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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")
BERBAERZMERAT (R ])GEMZHFE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report (“Report”), make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of the Report.

This Report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”, “we"” or “our”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this Report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this Report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

It is with great pleasure that, on behalf of the board of
directors (the “Board”) of Huakang Biomedical Holdings
Company Limited, | hereby present the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2021 to all the
shareholders.

Economic and business activities all over the world
have been disrupted since the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic in early 2020 (the
“Epidemic”). Though the Epidemic has not ceased
to affect the industry, macro environment improved
significantly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
during the first half of 2021. During the first half of 2021,
the Group's biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipments business showed robust
recovery and recorded significant increase in revenue of
approximately Renminbi (“RMB"”) 3.3 million, or 45.3%,
compared to the corresponding period of the year ended
31 December 2020. However, the growth had been
slowed down since the third quarter of 2021 when new
coronavirus infections were on the rise again in the PRC.
The rise in new infections led to more travel restrictions
and lockdowns which inevitably affected the Group’s
business. It seems that the virus containment measures
will stay in force in the near term and it will take more
time to allow the economy to return to normalcy.

Despite the difficulties arising from the Epidemic, our
business of sales of healthcare products and supplements
recorded revenue of approximately RMB3.6 million since
commencement of sales of our own registered brand
“Nutronic” supplements in December 2020 to ultimate
customers in the PRC, Hong Kong and Canada through
online and offline platforms and channels.
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Looking ahead, we are confident that the Epidemic will
be gone soon and more accommodative government
policies could be on the way for economic recovery. We
therefore remain cautiously optimistic on the recovery of
the Group'’s business.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all
staff members for their dedicated contributions and
unwavering commitment to deliver the best service to our
customers over the years. My appreciation also goes to
all shareholders, business associates, partners and valued
customers for their generous support and confidence in
the Company. We will continue with our endeavour to
pursue growth of our business and create value for our
shareholders.

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) on 13
December 2018 (the “Listing Date”) by way of share
offer of 100,000,000 new shares (“Share Offer”)
offered by the Company at HK$0.5 per Share.

Biological Reagents and Auxiliary Reproductive
Supplies and Equipment Segment

Our Group specialises in the research and development,
manufacturing and sales of a wide range of In-Vitro
Diagnostic (“IVD") reagents in the PRC, particularly
focusing on the PRC male fertility IVD reagent market. As
at the date of this Report, the Group’s product portfolio
offers 27 biological reagents, including 24 male fertility
IVD reagents, 2 parasite antibody detection reagents and
1 Epstein-Barr virus antibody detection reagent.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the IVD
reagents business operated by the Company’s principal
subsidiary in the PRC experienced a significant increase
of approximately RMB2.1 million, or 9.9% in revenue
from the sales of biological reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the fact that there were more than
five weeks of sales and productions halt (the “Relevant
Halt"”) of the Group’s factory in the PRC as a result of
the outbreak of the Epidemic for the year ended 31
December 2020, while there was no similar impact during
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, our PRC
subsidiary had 4 improved male fertility IVD reagents,
mainly “seminal plasma fructose quantitative assay
kit” and “seminal plasma neutral alpha-glucosidase
quantitative assay kit”, which were registered with the
Guangdong Drug Administration* as Class Il medical
devices, and another two were filed with the Market
Supervision Administration of Shenzhen Municipality* as
Class | medical devices.

Healthcare Products and Supplements Segment

Our Group has diversified its business to healthcare
products and supplements in the PRC, Hong Kong and
overseas markets.

As at the date of this Report, our Group has a total of 24
natural health product licences granted by the Natural
Health Product Directorate of Health Canada under
our registered brand “Nutronic” and our Group has
already launched 12 products in the market. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue recorded
from our sales of healthcare products and supplements
represented approximately 10.7% of the Group’s total
revenue whereas such business (which commenced in
December 2020) represented 3.5% for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Our Group participated in several foods and supplement
related expositions during the year ended 31 December
2021, and there were many sales channels and
e-commerce platforms that had strong interests to
promote and distribute our products. Currently, we
distributed our healthcare products and supplements
through our websites (at www.nutronic.ca and
www.nutronic.hk), offline channels (Eugenebaby and
MF Living shops) and e-commerce platforms, such as
Tmall, JD.com, Amazon, HKTVmall, Big Big Shop and
Eugenebaby, etc in the PRC, Hong Kong and Canada,
some of channels and platforms are operated by our
associate company.

*  The English name is for identification purpose
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Our Group expects the completion of Class Il medical
devices registration of the sperm nuclear DNA integrity
reagent and the launch of the same to the market for
sales in 2022. We are researching and developing on
rapid Point-Of-Care diagnostic testing (“POCT") under
immunoassay techniques, and polymerase chain reaction
testing (“PCR testing”) on male urinary tract infection,
and the Group intends to apply for medical devices
registration after satisfactroy research result.

For healthcare products and supplements segment, our
Group will continue to seek for partners and distributors
who have sufficient sales channel and financial resources
to promote the brand of “Nutronic” and distribute our
products in a more efficient and cost effective way.
Our Group incorporated a new subsidiary (namely,
Nutronic (Guangzhou) Health Foods Limited* (“Nutronic
Guangzhou”)) in Guangzhou, PRC in July 2021, and
we intend to apply for the required certificate(s) of
importation to the PRC for local sales.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue significantly increased by
approximately RMB4.1 million, or approximately 18.6%,
from approximately RMB22.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMB26.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase
in revenue was mainly due to the resumption of the
Group's PRC factory’s normal production and sales of
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies
and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2021
(as compared to the Relevant Halt for the year ended 31
December 2020); and the commencement of sales of
healthcare products and supplements by our Group since
December 2020.

* The English name is for identification purpose
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Sales of male fertility IVD reagents products remained to
be our major products which accounted for approximately
75.3% of our total revenue generated from our
sales of biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment segment for the year ended
31 December 2021. Revenue from this segment for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
RMB23.3 million, which represented a sharp increase of
approximately RMB2.1 million or approximately 9.9%
from approximately RMB21.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Sales of healthcare products and supplements were
a new segment since December 2020 that generated
approximately RMB2.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, which represented a sharp increase of
approximately RMB2.0 million or approximately 260.7%
from approximately RMB776,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB16.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing a significant increase of approximately
RMB1.8 million, or approximately 12.2%, from
approximately RMB14.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The Group’s gross profit margin decreased from
approximately 67.0% for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately 63.0% for the year ended 31
December 2021 which was mainly attributable to the
lower gross profit margin of sales of healthcare products
and supplements segment.

Other Income and Other Gains and Losses

Other income slightly increased from approximately
RMB650,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020
to approximately RMB775,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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We recorded other losses of approximately RMB259,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a
decrease from approximately RMB1.1 million compared
to the year ended 31 December 2020. Such decrease
was mainly attributable to the fluctuations in foreign
exchange rate between foreign currency and RMB, the
majority of which was unrealised foreign exchange loss.

Impairment Losses

The Group recorded impairment losses on trade
receivables (net of reversal) of approximately RMB637,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021, as compared
to approximately RMB787,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020. We assessed the average loss rate
adjusted for forward-looking business environment which
continued to be seriously affected by the Epidemic.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased approximately
RMB1.2 million or approximately 16.9%, from
approximately RMB7.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB8.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was
primarily attributable to significant increase of the
Group's sales and marketing activities to expand our
sales network for both segments of biological reagents
and auxiliary reproductive supplies and equipments and
healthcare products and supplements.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased from approximately
RMB10.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to approximately RMB9.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, which represented an decrease of
approximately RMB838,000 or approximately 8.2%.
Such a decrease was mainly attributable to termination of
professional services rendered by compliance advisor and
medical advisor.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased from
approximately RMB2.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB2.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, which represented an
increase of approximately RMB184,000 or approximately
8.2%. The increase was mainly attributable to a PCR
testing on male urinary tract infection research project
that commenced during the year ended 31 December
2021.

Finance Costs

During the year ended 31 December 2021, finance
costs mainly represented the interest on lease liabilities
under application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard (“HKFRS") 16 was approximately RMB93,000
as compared to approximately RMB74,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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Results for the year

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB4.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 as compared to approximately
RMB11.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The significant decrease was mainly attributable
to a significant increase in the Group’s gross profit of
approximately RMB1.7 million and a decrease in the net
foreign exchange loss of approximately RMB814,000
during the year compare to last year and recognition of
equity-settled share option expenses and provision for
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
of approximately RMB2.7 million and RMB2.6 million
respectively during last year, whereas no such expenses
were incurred during the year.

In particular, our Group's biological reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment segment generated
segment profit of approximately RMB2.9 million during
the year ended 31 December 2021, but it generated
segment loss of approximately RMB607,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2020. Such change was mainly
due to recovery from the Epidemic.

Basic loss per share for the year was RMB1.06 cents,
as compared to RMB2.91 cents for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Taxation

The PRC enterprise income tax rate applicable to the
Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC was 15% (2020:
15%), whereas no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Dividend

The Board did not recommend payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
Nil).

The declaration, payment, and amount of future dividend
will be decided by the Board and will depend upon,
among other things, our Group's results of operations,
capital requirements, cash flows, general financial
condition and such other factors as the Board may
consider important.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through internally generated funds from
operating activities and proceeds from the Listing.

As at 31 December 2021, our Group recorded total cash
and bank balances of approximately RMB36.2 million
compared to approximately RMB41.9 million as at 31
December 2020, which were placed with major banks in
the PRC and Hong Kong and denominated in RMB, Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), United States Dollars (“US$") and
Canadian Dollars (“CAD$"). The decrease was mainly due
to the payments of daily operating expenses and research
and development expenses in the PRC and Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2021, the lease liabilities under
application of HKFRS 16 was approximately RMB1.7
million (2020: approximately RMB2.6 million). The
gearing ratio of our Group calculated based on the lease
liabilities divided by total equity as at 31 December 2021
was approximately 2.9% (2020: approximately 4.3%).

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company since the Listing. The capital structure of the
Group comprised of issued share capital and reserves. The
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB57.7 million as at 31 December
2021 (2020: approximately RMB61.9 million).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 83 full-time
employees (2020: 80). Staff costs recognised in profit or
loss amounted to approximately RMB13.2 million (2020:
approximately RMB13.7 million) for the year ended 31
December 2021 (including directors and other employee
salaries and retirement benefits). Remuneration policies
and packages for the Group’s employees were based on
individual qualifications, performance, experience, and
conditions prevailing in the industry. In addition, various
training sessions have been offered to employees to
enhance their product and market knowledge.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNWR DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believed that there were certain risks and
uncertainties involved in the operations, some of which
were beyond the Group’s control. A detailed discussion
of the risk factors was set forth in the section headed “Risk
Factors” in our prospectus dated 30 November 2018 (the
“Prospectus”).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The functional currencies of our operations, assets and
liabilities were mostly denominated in RMB. Therefore,
we were not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk for realised losses, except for our HK$, US$ and
CAD$ denominated bank balances. The Group currently
did not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The
Group did not engage in any derivatives agreements and
did not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure throughout the year ended
31 December 2021. The management will closely monitor
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arises.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group will continue to employ a prudent treasury
policies in managing the Group’s cash balances and
maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the
Group is well placed to take advantage of future growth
opportunities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did

not make any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group pledged a motor
vehicle for lease liabilities with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately RMB326,000 (37 December
2020: approximately RMB434,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any
capital commitments (37 December 2020: approximately
RMB26,000) in respect of the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no
outstanding corporate guarantee (37 December 2020:
Nil). As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no banking
facilities and did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (37 December 2020: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus and the
announcement of change in use of proceeds dated 31
December 2021 (the “Announcement”), the Group
does not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets as at the date of this Report.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE OFFER

The Shares were listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange on the Listing Date at HK$0.5 per Share. The
net proceeds from the Share Offer (as defined in the
Prospectus), after deduction of underwriting fees and
commission, and other estimated expenses payable
by the Company in connection with the Share Offer,
amounted to approximately HK$16.6 million out of which
approximately HK$9.2 million remained unutilised as of 1
January 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR DN

The utilisation of net proceeds from the Share Offer by — ZAREEB A% (7 3 E BRI FENFER BN

the Group is set out below: FHyar
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-A
2020 2021 Expected
—ECEE —E--E timeline
for the
Revised application
allocation of of the
Amount of Net Proceeds Unutilised  Actual use Unutilised  the unutilised Unutilised
Use of Net Proceeds allocated upon listing proceeds  of proceeds proceeds proceeds Net Proceeds®
ABR  BRABRME
LHRAERE ABA FrEsE ABR  FEREN  SUERENES
FERERERE FERERE FERE LLE FresE BIoE  RERY

HKS million™ RMB'000% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
FERT) ARETTY AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFDO

Developing new products, improving 6.9 6,087 3,168 5278 809 2,409 Expected to be
our existing products and carrying fully utiised by
out international cooperation 31 December
projects 2022

REHED  HARANRRERR e S
RRERAIER tZR=1-H

HESER

Expanding our sales network and 45 4,011 839 4,011 - 2,000 Expected to be
enhancing our marketing activities fully utiised by

BRAMOBEBERIMBRME 31 December
nEkELY 2022

L) e St
tZA=t-H
HEZER

Developing auxiliary reproductive 46 4,100 4,100 - 4,100 - N/A
supply business iR

YREMEERRER

Working capital 06 481 - 431 - 500 Expected to be

2842 fully utilised by

31 December
202
L) S
tZA=+-H
HEHER
Total 5t 16.6 14,679 8,107 9,770 4,909 4,909
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Notes:

(1)  The net proceeds from the Share Offer based on the Offer
Price of HK$0.50 per Offer Share.

(2) Translation based on the exchange rate of RMB1.00 to
HK$1.13.

(3) In accordance with the Announcement, due to the reasons
and benefits mentioned in the Announcement, the
unutilised net proceeds was re-allocated with effect from
31 December 2021. For more details, please refer to the
Announcement.

(4) As at 31 December 2021, all unutilised proceeds were
deposited with major banks in the PRC.

(5) The expected timeline for application of the unutilised net
proceeds is based on the estimation made by the Group
which might be subject to changes in accordance with the
change in market conditions from time to time.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 13
January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme is a long-term incentive scheme of the
Company to reward its employees, Directors and other
eligible participants for their contributions to the Group
and to assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high calibre employees and other eligible participants
who are instrumental to the growth and development of
the Group.
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On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the granting
of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share options, subject
to the acceptance by the grantees, at an exercise price
of HK$0.125 per Share of the Company to the eligible
persons under the Share Option Scheme. The market
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant
was HK$0.125 per Share. All of the share options are
exercisable from the date of acceptance by a grantee to 8
April 2030 (both days inclusive). Each of the grantees has
paid HK$1 to the Company on acceptance of the offer
of share option. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.

The movement during the year and the options
outstanding as at 31 December 2021 were as follows:

R-ZE-TFMANE » KRB AHIRERE
MRt Elm A B A LR HA ££26,008,000

MIBARAE - MEZRINEZ AEWN - 1THEEAR
FBRAABN0.1258TT - RIRH BHD
ZK’AETW%EW‘EZ%H&H&%OJZS;‘%% °

EHBRENHARARAAE_T=2F
MANB(BEEREMB)ITE - FEARALD

RENBREZNROARF N ET
BAFBEHENARFIRBRA—_ZE_ZTFMA
j—LElm/_\tl: °

o

=

—+ = A= +— B ERTEBRE
MEREBERMT

Number of share options

BREZAE
Exercised Forfeited At
At 1 January Granted during during during the 31 December
Category of grantees 2021 the year the year year 2021
R-B-—-% RER #HEZB--F
ZEIN il —A—H RERRH RERTE #®EW +=A=1+—H

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Shuguang
(note)

SRIER ST & (HEE)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang
(note)

RERTE(HEE)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael
(note)

ERB L ()

Mr. He Jiaming (hote)

A=A E(HE)

Other employees (note)

Hth8 T (4:2)

4,000,000 -

4,000,000 -

4,000,000 -

4,000,000 -

9,504,000 -

4,000,000

4,000,000

4,000,000

4,000,000

(2,000,000) 7,504,000

Total
FoE 25,504,000 -

- (2,000,000) 23,504,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Note:

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
which the options were granted is HK$0.125. The exercise price
is HK$0.125. The exercise period during which the options may
be exercised is the period from the date of acceptance to 8 April
2030 (both days inclusive). The date of grant was 9 April 2020.

All the existing share options of the Company are vested
upon granting. Forfeiture of share options are transferred
from share option reserve to accumulated profits or losses
within the equity of the Company. The exercise price of
the forfeited share options is HK$0.125.

Save as disclosed above, no options were granted,
exercised, forfeited, cancelled or lapsed during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair
values of share options:

Closing share price immediately HK$0.123
before date of grant

Grant date share price HK$0.125

Exercise price HK$0.125

Expected life ten years

Expected volatility 103.1%

Dividend yield nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%

The binomial model has been used to estimate the fair
value of the share options. The value of the share options
is subject to the limitations of the binomial model and a
number of assumptions which are subjective and difficult
to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, since 31 December 2021 up to the date of
this Report no significant events affecting the Company
have taken place.

BEENWR DM

it -

SRREBREE B2 ETER0.125E
TC e {TEER0.125/8 7T » AITTREBRUE 2 171%
HAREMERZE_Z=240WAN\B(EEM
REEEAR)LHE ZEARS T -FFN
AhB -

RRalZFTEREBRETNEHERE -
B B EREREREERERNARR
AR RFTEET - B2 KR EBREZITE
B/AR0.12587T o

B EXFIEBEEIIN BHE-TE - —F+ A8
=+t—HIEFE  WEBREERDY 1T
SR - FESHERARARK -

AEBREZ A TERZERATMRE

ERRHBEMZA® 012387

W&
KL BEZRE 0.125%8 7T
I E 0.12587C
TE A +4
LN 103.1%
i B = i
2% a5 e M1 = 0.778%

“IHABEAT ARG ERE 2 AFE - B
Pk 2 BEXBER ZAEARARSG & ZIE
R - HERREIERERAMARTE - =
B  NERRUNEEHEH N FEMEEX
BEAXE -

HRER

i A MBRREMEBOARESEIN > 8=
T+ _A=t-HEEAREALE
BEFERNRNEREN -

EEE Y2 IE R 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

19



20

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT
ESREREER ZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, aged 51, is our executive Director
and chairman of our Board. He joined our Group in
September 2003 and was appointed as our Director on
3 August 2017 and was re-designated as our Executive
Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly responsible
for the management of our Board, giving strategic advice
and guidance on the business and operations of our
Group.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang held a bachelor’s degree and
master’s degree in engineering from Nippon Institute of
Technology, Japan and has over 17 years of experience in
the IVD reagents industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Chunguang, who is an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of our Group. Mr. Zhang Shuguang
is also the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who is our
Controlling Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) (“Controlling Shareholder”) and a member of
our senior management.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang, aged 54, is our executive
Director and chief executive officer of our Group. He
joined our Group in July 2008 and was appointed as
our Director on 3 August 2017 and re-designated as our
executive Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly
responsible for our business operations and the day-to-
day management of our Group.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang graduated from Hubei Institute
of Economics, in the PRC, majoring in economic English
and has over 10 years of experience in the IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is an executive Director and the chairman
of our Board. Mr. Zhang Chunguang is a Controlling
Shareholder and a member of our senior management,
who is also the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang.
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Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ("Mr. Poon"), aged 50, is our
executive Director, chief financial officer and compliance
officer of our Group. Mr. Poon joined our Group as our
Director on 3 August 2017. On 25 September 2017,
Mr. Poon was designated as our executive Director
and appointed as our compliance officer. Mr. Poon is
responsible for the financial management and corporate
finance of our Group.

Mr. Poon has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management, financial reporting, business advisory,
auditing and accounting. From March 1995 to February
1997, he worked in Chan Chak Chung & Co. and his
last position was audit senior. From March 1997 to June
1999, he worked in Ho & Au Yeung and his last position
was audit semi-senior. From November 2000 to March
2002 he served as senior accountant in Arthur Anderson
& Co., which was merged into PricewaterhouseCoopers
in 2002. Mr. Poon obtained a bachelor’s degree in
administrative studies from York University, Canada in
June 1995 and a master’s degree in practicing accounting
from Monash University, Australia in July 1998. Mr.
Poon has been a fellow member of HKICPA since July
2009, and a member with CPA Australia since March
2000 respectively. Mr. Poon passed the qualification
examination of Asset Management Association of
China in 2016. From April 2019 to February 2020, Mr.
Poon has been a Licensed Representative for Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity of
Canfield Corporate Finance Company Limited, a licensed
corporation.
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Mr. Poon is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely China Uptown Group Company Limited (stock
code: 2330.HK) since 29 November 2006, Smartac
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon New
Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited and
Asia Zirconium Limited) (stock code: 0395.HK) since 29
January 2010, Teamway International Group Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Jin Bao Bao Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 1239.HK) since 19 March 2019, and LFG
Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 3938.HK) since
10 September 2019, the shares of these companies are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and
Niche-Tech Group Limited (stock code: 8490.HK) since
28 June 2019, the shares of which are listed on GEM.
From August 2017 to April 2019, Mr. Poon was an
independent non-executive director of Cityneon Holdings
Limited (stock code: 5HJ.SGX), the shares of which were
listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange
Limited and were delisted with effect from 1 February
2019.

Mr. He Jiaming (“Mr. He"), aged 36, is our executive
Director. Mr. He joined our Group as a business
development director in January 2019. Mr. He is mainly
responsible for evaluating and developing new products
in connection with male fertility and exploring overseas
business cooperation opportunities.

Mr. He graduated from University of Manchester in the
United Kingdom in 2010, with a combined bachelor
and master degree in chemistry and has over six years of
experience in the fields of biochemistry and international
trading.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph (“Dr. Chow"), aged 49.
Dr. Chow is responsible for supervising our Group's
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Chow graduated from the Monash University in
October 1997 with a degree in the Bachelor of Science.
He obtained a Master of Medical Sciences degree and
a Doctor of Philosophy degree in November 2000 and
November 2007 respectively in the University of Hong Kong.

Dr. Chow has more than 20 years of experiences in the fields
of biomedical testing and molecular diagnostics technology.
Since April 2018, Dr. Chow has been the chief executive
officer of Zhejiang Thunderbio Innovation Limited* ( # )T
ZE=EAYEEE R A F)) (“Thunderbio”) and Dr. Chow
has led his team of inventors and experts at Thunderbio in
commercializing the application of molecular diagnosis and
microfluidic technology, being the technology with growing
applications in more efficient biomedical testing.

Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (“Dr. Cheng"), aged 54, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 1 September 2020. Dr. Cheng is responsible for
supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate governance
matters and providing independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting
(Honours) and Master’s degree of Business Administration
from Southern lllinois University, the United States of
America ("USA"), in 1992 and 1994 respectively, and
a Doctor of Business Administration degree from the
City University of Hong Kong with research area in
“Independent Non-Executive Director and Corporate
Governance” in 2011. Dr. Cheng has been a certified
public accountant in both Hong Kong and USA and a
Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Dr. Cheng has over 25 years of experiences in
financial reporting, business advisory, auditing, accounting,
tax investigation and liquidation. Dr. Cheng is currently the
managing director of Gary Cheng CPA Limited.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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Dr. Cheng currently serves as charter president and
honorary advisor of the Lions Club of Huaxia Hong Kong
and committee member of Social Welfare Advisory
Committee of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

Dr. Cheng was an independent non-executive director
in a Hong Kong listed company, namely Smartac
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon New
Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited and
Asia Zirconium Limited), a company whose shares are
currently listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 395.HK) since 16 November 2001 but Dr.
Cheng resigned from the said post on 31 December
2021.

Mr. Chan Kin Sang (“Mr. Chan”), aged 70, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 26 November 2018. Mr. Chan is responsible
for supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate
governance matters and providing independent advice to
our Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in laws in November 1979. Mr.
Chan was admitted as a notary public in April 1997. Mr.
Chan is currently a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, a China-appointed attesting officer and a
practising solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has over 30
years of experience in legal practice in Hong Kong and
Mr. Chan is currently the partner of the Peter K.S. Chan
& Co..

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely China Fortune Financial Group Limited
(stock code: 290.HK) since 9 July 2014, and Pak Tak
International Limited (stock code: 2668.HK) since 3 April
2018, the shares of them are listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange. In addition, Mr. Chan is currently
also a non-executive director of Sino Harbour Holdings
Group Limited (stock code: 1663.HK) since 1 April
2020, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chang Yim Yang, aged 59, is vice chairman and a
director of Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical Engineering
Limited* (“Shenzhen Huakang”) and a director of
King Grace Company Limited (“King Grace”). He joined
our Group in September 2003 and has been mainly
responsible for the general management and business
development of Shenzhen Huakang. He has over 18
years of experience in mergers and acquisitions as well as
capital market operations.

Mr. Chang Yim Yang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is our Controlling Shareholder, our
executive Director and chairman of our Board. Mr. Chang
Yim Yang is also the brother of Mr. Zhang Chunguang,
who is an executive Director and the chief executive
officer of our Group.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki, aged 38, is the financial controller
of our Group and our company secretary. He is mainly
responsible for the financial management and company
secretarial matters of our Group. He joined our Group
and was appointed as company secretary of our Company
on 25 September 2017. He was further appointed as
financial controller of our Group on 7 November 2017.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki held a master’s degree in professional
accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is a practising member of the HKICPA and has over
16 years of experience in the finance and accounting
industry.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEEBZEBE

Mr. Fu Jianhua, aged 56, is the deputy general manager
and chief technology officer of Shenzhen Huakang.
He joined our Group in January 2014 and is mainly
responsible for the technology research and development
of our Group.

Mr. Fu Jianhua held a bachelor’s degree in science
from Wuhan University, the PRC and has over 20 years
of experience in the medical devices and IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael was appointed as the
compliance officer of our Company on 25 September
2017. For his qualifications and experience, please refer
to the paragraph headed "Executive Directors” in this
section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as our company secretary
on 25 September 2017. He is also the financial controller
of our Group. For his qualifications and experience, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Senior Management” in
this section.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

I
(1= 'EE'/D ﬁ%

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2021. This Report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this Report (the
“Relevant Period").

The board will continue to monitor and review the
Company’s corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal
controls of the Group to ensure an effective and
adequate internal control system is in place. The Board
also convened meetings to discuss financial, operational
and risk management control.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
DEEARE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code governing securities
transactions of the Directors (the “Required Standard”).
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all of
them confirmed that they had fully complied with the
Required Standard during the Relevant Period.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors
have also requested any employee of the Company or
director or employee of a subsidiary of the Company
(the “relevant employees”) who, because of his
office or employment in the Company or a subsidiary,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the
Company when he would be prohibited from dealing by
the Model Code as if he were a Director. No incident of
noncompliance of the Required Standard by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses
between our Group and our Controlling Shareholders,
the latter have entered into a deed of non-competition
in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as trustee
for each of our subsidiaries from time to time) on 27
November 2018 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) to
the effect that each of them will not, and will procure
each of their respective close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) not to, directly or indirectly participate
in, or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved
in any business which may be in competition with our
businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer
to the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Non-competition Undertakings from Our
Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.
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The Company has received a written confirmation from
the Controlling Shareholders that they have complied
with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition in the
year ended 31 December 2021. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance and written confirmation from the controlling
shareholders, and noted that all the undertakings under
the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with
by each of the Controlling Shareholders for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is
vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility of
leadership and control of the Group and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board formulates strategies and sets directions
for the Group’s activities to develop its business and
enhance shareholders’ value. The Board also assumes
the responsibilities for maintaining high standard
of corporate governance, including among others,
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and reviewing and monitoring the
Company'’s policies and practices in compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements.

The Board has established board committees with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with the committees’ authority and duties. Details of the
respective committee’s terms of reference are available at
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group are delegated to the executive
Directors and the senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board for
significant transactions.

ARAFERENER RN E@MHER + ZRE
ERHE_T-_—F+HA=T—HILFE
EETIRFRBORK - BIUERITES
MERNERRRETEAREEER
WRAESERBRENEE_E_—F+=H
=t+—HULEFEEREFT I RFREETHFT
BEGE -

BExg

EERREAKEXBNEBREE  AFAE

BRERASENEE IEBAEAEHEL

EBAKEEHAREAREENKY - 28E
xR

EEERAKBNEEHIERE NI
[ AERAEEEEMEFRREE &
ZEeNBAARSBRENDEERNET
BEEPERE)EFNAAFNEREARR
K& MEHMEEARRRNETERRK
EERETENBRREER -

EEEERVEFELEE  WRIHAREMN
EMBERE  FENPAZEENBENE
- BZENBRBEFBINARR R
B S PTABUE A B o

AEENAEERE THEEETIFEER
FTHITEEREREREAR - TERBERE
R TAEERS S E TR » WEFETER
EXRGAIBESEFEHILE

EEE Y2 IE R 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

29



30

Board Composition

During the Relevant Period, the Board comprises seven
Directors of which four are executive Directors and
three are independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the Relevant Period is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Chan Kin Sang

The biographical information of the Directors and
relationships between the members of the Board are set
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 20 to 26 of this Report.
Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang and Mr.
Chang Yim Yang (one of our senior management) are
brother, and Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr. Chang Yim
Yang are our Controlling Shareholders.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year involving active participation, either in person
or through electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice is given for
a regular Board meeting. For all other Board meetings,
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance.
The Directors are allowed to include any matter in the
agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly
briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors
at least three days before the intended date of the Board
meeting, or such other period as agreed. The company
secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’
minutes. Draft and final versions of the minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for comments and record
respectively within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.

The attendance records of each Director at Board and
Committee meetings, at the annual general meeting
("AGM") during the year ended 31 December 2021 are as
follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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R/ TSMNEERE
Audit  Remuneration  Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee AGM

Name of Directors 3.5 Bz  ENZBE  §MZEE  RY4ZEE  REBEFAE
Executive Directors: g%
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REXLE 6/6 NATER NATER 0 i
Mr. Zhang Chunguang ik 6/6 NANER 20 NANEF /1
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael RRETE 6/6 NIATER NATER NIATER "
Mr. He Jiaming Gt 6/6 NIANER NIANEF NATER /1
Independent non-executive Directors: B FEH{TES -
Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph FEERT 6/6 565 0 0 i
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary guTEL 5/6 565 0 NANER /1
Mr. Chan Kin Sang BRREEE 6/6 565 NATER 0 "
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1* of the CG Code provides that
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer are
held by Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr. Zhang Chunguang
respectively. The roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer have been separated and assumed by
different individuals to ensure a balance of power and
authority so that power is not concentrated in any member
of the Board. The chairman provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the
Company's business development and daily management
and operations generally.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Relevant Period, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the
independent non-executive Directors has submitted a
written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their
independence. The Company has received from each
of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board considers that
all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements as set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non- executive Directors are independent.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.2.1 has
been re-designated as C.2.1
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang and
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael, who were appointed on 25
September 2017, has entered into a service contract with
the Company commencing from the Listing Date, which
has no fixed term and can be terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the
other party. Mr. He Jiaming, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of
three years commencing from the date of appointment
and can be terminated by either party giving not less
than three months’ notice. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with our Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from their respective appointment dates
unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party. Each of the
appointments is subject to termination provisions therein
and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed aforesaid, none of the Directors
has entered into any service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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All the Directors, including the independent non-
executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles
of Association. At each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at an AGM at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the AGM at which he
retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so
far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to
retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and
does not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been the longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment and so
that as between the persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot. A Director is not required to retire
upon reaching any particular age.

The Company may from time to time in general meeting
by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
Any Director so appointed shall be subject to retirement
by rotation.

The Board shall have the power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to reelection at
such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Any such Director appointed shall not be taken
into account in determining which particular Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at
an AGM.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of
the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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INDEMNITY OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expenses.

All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis
of major changes that may have affected the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. During
the year, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in accordance with code provision
A.6.5* contained in the CG Code.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.6.5 has
been re-designated as C.1.4
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The Company organised training sessions for all Directors.
Such training sessions covered a wide range of relevant
topics including Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and updates on GEM Listing Rules,
etc. In addition, relevant reading materials including
memorandum on the duties and responsibilities of the
Directors have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.

The record of continuous professional development
relating to Director’s duties and regulatory and business
development that have been received by the Directors for
the Relevant Period are summarised as follows:

RNNBEATAEEEMERE o HEE
REREZEEEEE  REESBRIEME
T CEERRGEIMEMBANZIEN
o i BEEEEREEEMENR 8
REEREIBERTE  UERES2ER
W3E -

EENEHEPRMK FREERENETE
HEBERNTFEEEBHRTEMANT

Nature of Continuous
Professional
Development

Programmes o)
Name of Directors EEnE BEEERREERLG )
Executive Directors: MITES -
Mr. Zhang Shuguang RN EAE A&B
Mr. Zhang Chunguang RENTE A&B
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ERELE A&B
Mr. He Jiaming B Ps A&B
Independent non-executive Directors: BN IEMITES -
Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph EE A&B
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary g TEL A&B
Mr. Chan Kin Sang PREEA ST A&B

Notes:

A:  Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or
briefings

B:  Reading materials relevant to corporate governance,
director’s duties and responsibilities, GEM Listing Rules and
other relevant ordinances
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees on 26
November 2018, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 3.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
(Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph and Mr. Chan Kin
Sang.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules and paragraph C.3* of the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee shall hold at least
two meetings a year.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision C.3 has
been re-designated as D.3
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, 5 meetings
have been held for the Audit Committee to review,
the quarterly, interim, and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and
continuing connected transactions.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman) and Dr.
Chow Kwok Fai Joseph, both are independent non-
executive Directors, and Mr. Zhang Chunguang, an
executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are in compliance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraph B.1* of the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; (ii) establishing formal and
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration; (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board'’s corporate goals and objectives; (iv) assessing
performance of executive Directors; and (v) approving
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts. The
Remuneration Committee shall meet not less than once
every year.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision B.1 has
been re-designated as E.1
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee met 2 times to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in note 8 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman), an executive
Director, Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph and Mr. Chan Kin
Sang, both are independent non-executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are in compliance with paragraph A.5* of the CG
Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and succession planning of Directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee met 2 times to review among other things,
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; consider the qualifications of the retiring
directors standing for election at the 2020 annual general
meeting; review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and review the Board diversity policy adopted
by the Company.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision A.5 has
been re-designated as B.3
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The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects as
well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out in
the Company’s Board diversity policy and procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director of the Company, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider
the candidate’s character, qualifications, experience,
independence and other relevant criteria necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve
Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diverse perspectives of the Board is
maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
functions set out in the code provision D.3.1* of the CG
Code.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision D.3.1 has
been re-designated as A.2.1
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During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Report, and communicate with various level of
staff to ascertain the implementation of policies and
procedures on corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has in place policies and procedures
in relation to risk management and internal control.
The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing the
risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s internal
control system and procedures are designed to meet
its specific business needs and to minimise its risk
exposure. The Company has adopted different internal
guidelines, along with written policies and procedures
to monitor and lessen the impact of risks which are
relevant to its business and control its daily business
operations. Management will identify the risks associated
with the Group's day-to-day operations for review by
the Board. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that the
Company is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The Board
oversees management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function and
is currently of the view that there is no immediate need
to set up an internal audit function within the Group
considering the size, nature and geography of the Group's
business. The Directors are responsible for formulating
and overseeing the implementation of the Group’s risk
management and internal control measures. The Group
has engaged an external independent internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to conduct an internal
control review on the internal control system of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such review is
conducted annually. The review covers certain business
cycles and procedures undertaken by the Group and
make recommendations for improving and strengthening
the system. The scope of the IC Consultant’s review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The
IC Consultant has recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Board. The Board is of the
view that no material internal control defeats have been
noted. All recommendations given by the IC Consultant
will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure that
they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
The Directors were of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems were adequate and effective
to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls functions. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review
of the risk management and internal control systems will
be performed annually.

RNE B W BN EPEIZI) 6 KR AR B AT AR
EEEBZHAE  HERHKR - BARKR
REBRNR L NEEZIE - EFAEHTE
REBHNEBRERRANBETEHENEEH
Ei o NEBE RN BB L AP ESIT B R
([AEPEEZER ) REBE_T=—F+=
A= + HIEFEAAREBNAIBEIER
FETTNERESIE AT o IR B FEIT—
Koo REREASBEERNSE TESBERR
B WRENRERINSEBRANER °
NN EEBE LN CHEE S
Eiﬁ& RNEPEEEREMESTEZ T

ATRMEIELCERE - EFERA/IWEE
BINEANTEITRR - XEBKEERE
FEREEIEEARIAA T ROFT B 15k - ARBIRR%
ZEEN—BRAENBRART EFER
A RRREE RN EEIE RS E B st E
R F S R A EBEE -

EXRBRERZES  AKENEARE
BRAMEIERFEDERETRS - EF
BEMBEAGRER  BRME  2&
RERETREE - EFTERA  AEENE
REELAMEERTTE AR - EFE
A BF YRR EE ARSI RFETTR

af e

EEE Y2 IE R 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
DEEARE

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 8 in the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5* of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars is contained
in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this Report by band is set out
below:

FNEECET)

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EENSREEEHH

RE-S-—F+-A=+—AILERENHE
FHMEERRNGA Y RRN TS

RIBEEE AT RIE ST AMESCHEBAS M

SRERENXE (EERN) (BRFBENA
BEEERSRERERE | —&)REE
DM -

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND THEIR
REMUNERATION

Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) is the external auditor
of the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible
for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, which is subject to the approval by the Board
and at the general meetings of the Company by its
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
remuneration for the audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group was as follows:

NS A2 B8 B I L 57 A

TEIRR(BB)GIMEHMBRAA
(THBERR]) SARFINEZEED - BZ
ZESREMIMNERBMNEE  EFE
EhEBRERNESSRIEREZS  HEZ
T ENZELRBRALESTSHERR
RNARRIBERAE L

RBE=T=—F+=A=t—ALFE
NS Gl P L
T

Equivalent to
HK$ RMB
BIT HERARE

Annual audit service for Hz—_Z-—4F+-_A=+—H

the year ended 31 December 2021

I FENFEEZRS

700,000 579,000

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision B.1.5 has
been re-designated as E.1.5
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDITOR

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts for the year ended 31 December
2021, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows
for that period and comply with the requirement of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) ("Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditor is responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on the audit, on the financial statements
prepared by the Directors and reporting the opinion solely
to the Company’s shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statement of the independent auditor
of the Company about its reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 110 to 118.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong and the GEM Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be
announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing
Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012,
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e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, nonexclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented
procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs, the Board will decide, or
designate appropriate persons to communicate with
parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Company secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and facilitating induction and
professional development of the Directors. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 25 September 2017 and has
complied with all requirements relating to qualifications,
experiences and training under the GEM Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, he has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, shareholders may convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a
resolution at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for
the purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution
at the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the
“Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently
located at 3rd Floor, Effectual Building, 16 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
company secretary. The Requisition must state clearly the
name(s) of the Requisitionist(s) concerned, his/her/their
shareholdings in the Company, the reason(s) to convene
an EGM and the proposed agenda.
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The Company will check the Requisition and the identity
and shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
and/or include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s)
proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the EGM within
two months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in
order, the Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, the Board or the company secretary will
not call for an EGM nor include the proposal(s) made or
the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the
Board or the company secretary fails to proceed to
convene such EGM, the Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the company
secretary to convene an EGM shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: 3rd Floor, Effectual Building, 16 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the company secretary)
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Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Subject to provisions of the Articles, Eligible Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication
with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor understanding of the Group’s
business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and allow them to engage actively with
the Company.

Information will be communicated to the shareholders
through the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
financial reports, the publish and posting of notices,
announcements, circulars, AGMs and other EGMs that
may be convened as well as all the published disclosures
submitted to the Stock Exchange.
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Shareholders should direct their questions about
their shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar.
Shareholders and the investment community may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to
the extent such information is publicly available. Any such
questions, requests, comments and suggestions can be
addressed to the Company by post to its head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Except for the conditional adoption of the amended and
restated memorandum of association and Articles of
Association (the “M&A") adopted by the Company on
26 November 2018 to comply with the applicable legal
and regulatory requirements (including the GEM Listing
Rules), which took effect from the Listing Date, there was
no significant change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Relevant Period.

The amended and restated M&A is available on the
respective websites of Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIG - £ ERERESE

INTRODUCTION

This is the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") Report of Huakang Biomedical Holdings
Company Limited (the “Group”) to highlight its
approaches and strategies in pursuit of sustainable
development during the reporting period from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”).
This ESG report covers the environmental and social
performance of the Group’s business operation of its
manufacturing operation in Shenzhen, the PRC, namely
Shenzhen Huakang, during the Reporting Period,
unless otherwise stated. The Group primarily adopts
the principles and basis of Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Group complied with all the provisions set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide during the Reporting Period.

The Group is a medical device supplier principally
specialized in the research and development (the “R&D"),
manufacturing and sale of a wide range of biological
reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC, which collectively accounted for
89% of the Group's total revenue during the Reporting
Period. The Group’s product portfolio offers 27 biological
reagents, including 24 male fertility in-vitro diagnostics
(the "IVD") reagents, 2 parasite antibody detection
reagents and 1 Epstein-Barr virus (the “EBV") antibody
detection reagent.

Since December 2020, the Group had a new segment
to commencement, marketing and distribution of self-
developed healthcare supplements under the Group's
registered brand “Nutronic”. The healthcare product
business is included in the report since it contributed
approximately 11% of the total revenue during the
Reporting Period. There were no other major operational
changes in the scope compared with the period from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (the “Last
Reporting Period”).
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R HERERERE

THE BOARD'S ESG COMMITMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. Specifically, the Board is held
accountable for the Group’s long-term resilience with
respect to potential shifts in the business landscape that
may result from climate change. As the stewards for long-
term performance and resilience, the Board is committed
to determining the most effective way to integrate ESG
considerations into its structure and committees. The
Group also evaluates and monitors ESG-related risks
and ensures these risks are thoroughly considered and
involved in decision making and embedded into the
management of risk and opportunities across the Group.

The Group strives to achieve a high level of public
transparency by regularly engaging stakeholders and
disclosing information in a timely and accurate manner.
Accordingly, the Group maintains regular exchanges and
dialogues with peers, investors and other stakeholders
to encourage the sharing of methodologies and to stay
informed about the latest ESG-related risks, regulatory
requirements etc. The Group also tracks existing
regulations and emerging regulations to ensure its ESG
policies, processes and disclosures meet expectations.

Legal compliance is an essential pillar for sound corporate
governance and underpins sustainable operations.
The Group has established appropriate and effective
management policies and internal control systems for
ESG issues during the Reporting Period and confirmed
that the disclosed contents comply with the requirements
of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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THE GROUP’S ESG APPROACH

The Board and senior management are engaged in the
materiality assessment in identifying material ESG issues
that impact the Group's business operations. The Board
formulates the approach and strategy towards ESG factors
to identify, evaluate, prioritise and manage material
ESG related issues. The Group holds periodic meetings
to discuss significant matters related to operations and
review management approaches towards a set of ESG
issues. The Group continuously monitors ESG-related risks
through the implementation of appropriate systems and
processes.

Reflecting international concerns on climate change, the
Group has begun assessing the short , medium and long-
term materiality of ESG related risks and opportunities
for the Group. The Group ensures that all its actions
and responses to climate change are proportionate to
the materiality of climate change effects on the Group.
The Board reviews progress against ESG related matters
through setting appropriate targets and strategies to be
implemented to measure progress on an annual basis.
Such measures are crucial to the Group’s business as
they enable the Group to manage ESG related risks and
regulatory requirements.

The Group will consider including ESG targets and
indicators in its executive incentive schemes, where
appropriate.

The favourable policies and systems in the PRC enable
the Group to seize new business opportunities in the
emerging IVD market and invest in the development of
the biomedical industry to tackle future health challenges.
To meet the increasingly sophisticated demands of
customers, the Group seeks to enhance existing products
and develop new products leveraging its vast experience
and advanced technologies, which, in turn, benefits
society.
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B HBREARS

THE GROUP’S MISSION AND VISION
Enhance peoples’ health
Meet customer’s needs

The Group embraces its vision through its operational
practices and in the provision of quality products and
excellent service. Not only does the Group adhere to
stringent standards and requirements to ensure that
its products meet the highest quality, it also actively
engages in developing innovative products for worldwide
healthcare needs and a better quality of life.

The Group's ambitions are:

e be a pioneer in its core technologies;

e boost investment in R&D;

e recruit high-caliber personnel worldwide;

e establish and implement quality management
systems effectively;

e stay innovative in various business areas,

e enhance the physical well-being of the general
public;

e adhere to the customer-centric principle in business
practice and take full responsibility in service delivery
to customers’ satisfaction;

e comply with relevant rules and regulations; and

e improve quality management systems consistently

for a stable product quality that meets customers’
requirements.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group recognizes the importance of building
positive relationships with its stakeholders. The Group
maintains ongoing dialogues with key stakeholders via
various communication channels including meetings,
performance reviews, customer satisfaction surveys and
interview sessions. Feedback obtained through such
regular engagement is essential to the decision-making
process of the Group’s operations, from improving its
business performance to gaining insights into future
development.

To identify material ESG issues, the Group specifically
engaged both internal and external stakeholders to
gain insights into ESG material topics and challenges
the Group’s operations face. Key stakeholders, such as
shareholders, directors of the board, suppliers, customers
and staff were engaged in the materiality assessment.
In the materiality assessment, stakeholders were asked
to rate a list of 19 topics in terms of their relevance and
importance to the Group's business development and
sustainability, as well as to the wider community.

Results of the materiality assessment and the consolidated

list of material aspects are presented in the following
matrix and table respectively.
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MATERIALITY MATRIX EEMER

Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement

FOESRHTREIENERM

Lower

B

Higher
BE

C1 Raw Material Management

- A Environmental A BRHE
ngEher A1 Energy Al BEIR
= A2 Water A2 FIK
A3 Air Emission A3 KRB
A4 Waste and Effluent A4 BEEYIFNEK
A5 Packaging Material Consumption A5 &3 #1EHEFE

A6 Environmental Protection Measures A6 5 5 (R 1 jts
" C] A7 Climate Change A7 RIRE(L
b B Social B i EME
p C] B1 Employment B1 (&
o [:] D B2 Occupational Health and Safety ~ B2 Bi¥{EZFE 72
% ) m [_] B3 Development and Training B3 /R EAIE
= i 2] B4 Labour Standards B4 4 T %8|
£X BS Supplier Management B5 e E IR
2 B6 Intellectual Property B6 AAERE
5 D B7 Data Protection B7 BUiEIRE
C] B8 Customer Service B8 & MRS
D B9 Product/Service Quality BY Em/ RS EE
B10 Anti-corruption B10 R&/5
B11 Community Investment B11 # @&
C Others C 238

C1 EMEER

Internal Assessment on Importance to Business

HEBEEUNAEITME

Among the environmental and social aspects, the
following ESG topics were deemed as the most important

ERFNMAELE  WTIRERE g kER
TRERNERTAREENHE

by the stakeholders:

e Product and service quality o EmKR%EZ=
e Occupational Health and Safety o WBEREREZE
e Development and Training o BRI

e Watse and Effluent o EEWEFK

e Employment e [EfE
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STAKEHOLDERS’' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG
approach and sustainability performance. Stakeholders
may share with the Group any suggestion and view via

email to: hk@szhuakang.com.

AWARDS, RECOGNITIONS AND MEMBERSHIPS 81 -

Since its establishment, the Group has received awards
and recognitions from governmental and international
authorities acknowledging its achievements in product
R&D and occupational safety and health. The Group has

obtained the following awards or certifications:

Awards/Recognitions

3V |

Shenzhen High and New Technology Enterprise
TR S35 =1 oI 3
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Awarding authority
B

Innovation Committee of Shenzhen
Municipal Finance Committee of Shenzhen
Shenzhen State Taxation Bureau

Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
ATHEFEES

AT REES

ARINTR R D

AT G S B

High and New Technology Enterprise
RFTRAIMT R

Innovation Committee of Shenzhen
Municipal Finance Committee of Shenzhen
RTHEFEES

YT HREES

Certificate of Good Manufacturing Practice Rules
for Medical Devices
ERGSMEESEEERBIE

China Food and Drug Administration
HREmEmEEERR

Work Safety Standardization
HER B,

State Administration of Work Safety
BRLZEAESBEER

[SO13485 Medical Devices
— Quality Management System
ISO13485 BERBEMITHEEE IR RARE

International Organization for Standardization
IR LR
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Moreover, the Group actively forges close ties with the Itk oI » 75 52 (8] 75 4z £ 22 (A #4 8 78 7 22 25 B
industry bodies and takes part in professional associations % W2HAYBRERNEE RS - KEE
in the biomedical community. The Group is currently the BRIANL N HEKE :

member of the following associations:

e Shenzhen Association of Medical Devices, o RNIMEBESWMITERS
e Shenzhen Hi-tech Industry Association, o HNmEEmEXEHE
e Guangdong Medical Device Management Academy, o BEREZBERHEEES

e Guangdong Food and Drug Technology Association o [ERERMEREIZERINHE
for Evaluation and Certification,

e Shenzhen Life Science and Biotechnology Association, o FEIITAmEEEAYRITHE - &
and

o

e Shenzhen Medical Device Quality Promotion o I FJITEERHESEERES
Association.

These associations provide excellent platforms for ZEHEARNBM  #4% - MERBEL =

knowledge sharing, networking, market insight sharing ~ REBKHERME T RFHFE -
and business development.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to protecting the
environment and remains vigilant against greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions in all business activities. The
Group’s Environmental Management Policy outlines
the key objectives and principles of the Group related
to managing the environmental influences of its
operations.

The Group mainly consumed electricity, petrol and
water, and generated wastewater and paper waste
during the Reporting Period. The Group strictly
abides by the laws, rules and regulations enforced by
the PRC in relation to environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to:

e  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;

e Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC;

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution; and

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

During the Reporting Period, no material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to air and GHG emissions, discharge into water
and land, or the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste was recorded.

B HBREARE

B

AEBBAONRERE - LEMBEES
PR ERE(RERE D FRREE
15 - REBRFEERR BB AR
SEEREESMELNRREZENE
ZHEMRE -

WERMA > AEBEZEHEES - JUH
KRK > WELREKRER - REBE
R 3E 57 P B IR R N5 AR Bl 77 m AT
HYAR ~ RAIER - BRETRR :

o MEARKMBERFERDE

o HREARKMBIKSRIDAE

o HREARKMBARSEIAE
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A1. Emissions

Air pollutants and GHG emissions are significant
factors to address in combating climate change.
To reduce emissions, only high-quality fuel is used
within the Group’s fleet. Where appropriate, staff
are encouraged to use public transport. The Group
also tends to choose suppliers that are closely
located to its operations, so that emissions caused by
transport between the suppliers and the operations
can be minimised.

A1.1 Air Emissions

The Group-owned petrol vehicles were used for daily
business operations during the Reporting Period,
which contributed to the emission of nitrogen oxides
("NO,"), sulfur oxides (“SO,"”) and respiratory
suspended particles (“RSP").

Al. BERY

ZERSRY MR ER B U H T RE
BICPRBHFORASR - REDHER > &
SEEFNERBEENS - NEES
AT XBETEAARRE - AEH
TMARPE R MIBAE AR H 2 ER
RS - 2R A BEIRUER B R
BB P B B S A O BRI ©

A1 BERBER
WMEHAN KEBLAEFE A HEH
ARBEEXER  BRHEHRAALY
(ITNOxJ) ~ &L (1SOx]) K AT IR A
2R F ([RSP]) °

Air emissions (non-GHG) from mobile combustion

BERBEELENERFRGERERE)

NO« (kg) RSP (kg) SO« (kg)

FEY TRABINT HRELEY
Fuel Source #REHR Usage BREHE A (AF) (AF) (AF)
Petrol Y For vehicles EE#f A 2.75 0.21 0.06
Note: Bt -

Emission factors for calculations on environmental
parameters throughout the report were made reference to
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s business
activities contributed to the GHG emission of 121.14
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,eq."),
mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.
The overall GHG intensity for the Group was
1.46tC0,eq. with reference to the number of full-
time employees (“FTE"), or 0.0026 tCO,eq. per unit
of product sold, representing a 28.4% and 25.7% fall
respectively compared with the Last Reporting Period.

A2 BERBEHEM

BERERRN - AEBNKEEEBEL
T121. 14 —AtirE = (| Z& iR
BE| O FEAE-_&tik - FREEEAS
L) KR ERBEHEN - NEBEEREN
BERBENZEAEREREE([2
BES 146 —EtiRESRETHE
HEMO0.0026M — A Lk E E » B EME
REED R A 28.4% 225.7% °

Total
Emission GHG Emission GHG Emission
Scope of GHG Emissions Sources (tCO2eq.) (%)
BERBHER BHEERBHER
REREHRNER BERUR (-S| tixEE (%)
Scope 1 Direct GHG Emission
R ERAERBHER
Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Petrol 10.2 8%
AR (BB EDIR) i
Scope 2 Energy Indirect GHG Emission
K2 e R AR EREHEK
Purchased electricity 105.88 88%
FREEE N
Scope 3 Other Indirect GHG Emission
3 HttMERERB K
Paper waste disposal 0.84
HER R B B R REAR
Electricity used for freshwater processing 0.78
KIKERIEFTRESR 4%
Electricity used for sewage processing 0.24
ySIKBRIRFTHEE
Business air travel by employees 3.20
B ERBEIKR
Total 121.14 100%
et

Note 1. Emission factors were made by reference to
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules and their
referred documentation as set out by the Stock
Exchange, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2: Emission factor of 0.06101 tCO,/MWh was used
for purchased electricity in the National Grid of
the PRC.

Note 3: Emission factor of 0.71 tCO,/MWh was used for
electricity purchased from the Hong Kong Electric
Company.

Biat1 - BRS AR - BER R TI2R
GEM_E 748 BB 8520 N B X T AT R T
HaEFmfEh -

Kiaz2 - EREBEIREHEEE S H R
MEE0.06101ME —EibitE =
KERFTE ©

a3 BEEESBNAANEH R
PR BO.71 AL E R
RSEHE -
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated
a total of 2.65 tonnes of hazardous waste,
mainly comprised of hazardous solids and liquids.
The intensity was 0.06 kg/unit of product sold,
representing a decrease of 33.3% compared with
the last Reporting Period.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous waste from the Group’s operations
consists mainly of paper waste and domestic waste.
During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a
total of 1.25 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, 13%
of which was paper waste derived from the Group’s
office operation. The overall intensity was 15 kg/FTE,
representing a 8.62% decrease compared to the Last
Reporting Period.

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group is dedicated to curbing air pollution
and GHG emissions from its operations. To reduce
emissions produced though its products, the Group
estimates the production needs and determines the
optimal production quantity in one-off production.

The Group highly encourages employees to use
public transport whenever possible. The Group
has adopted the use of online conferencing tools
to reduce air travel. As a result of the Group’s
continuous efforts, both fuel consumption and
vehicle exhaust emissions reduced significantly
compared to the Last Reporting Period. In the long
run, the Group has established a 10-year Group-wise
emission reduction target to reduce emissions by
10% by the fiscal year of 2030.
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A1.6 Waste Handling and Reduction Initiatives

A2.

The Group strictly observes national laws in handling
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Wastes
are reduced and prevented at source wherever
possible. Wastewater, as a kind of hazardous waste,
is temporarily stored in containers, and collected by
designated licensed handlers for further treatment
prior to disposal.

Paper waste is collected and disposed of in
landfills. The Group continues to implement paper-
saving measures to reduce paper waste at source.
For instance, the Group encourages double-
sided printing, promotes the use of electronic
documentation, and keeps track of paper
consumption in promoting a paperless office. The
paper consumption pattern was similar to the Last
Reporting Period. In the long run, the Group has
established a 10-year Group-wise waste reduction
target to reduce waste generation by 20% by the
fiscal year of 2030.

Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established formal
policies on improving resource utilization efficiency,
the Group adheres to the principle of full utilization
of resources and encourages employees to observe
relevant practices to achieve resource conservation.

EEE Y2 IE R 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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B HBREARS

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption of the Group was
206,366 Kilowatt-hour (“kWh"), with an overall
energy intensity of 2,486 kWh/FTE , and 4.48 kWh
per unit of product sold during the Reporting Period,
representing a 2.42% decrease and 2.05% increase
respectively compared to the last reporting period.

A2.1 BERERE

RIREHR - AEENEERNREE
206,366 T L ([ FREF ) - 4RREIR®
EhR2486TEHK B4 2BEERE
HELERIISTER & E—@EHE
AR BSR40 2.42% R 3L H12.05% ©

Direct/indirect

Energy Sources Consumption ~ Consumption Energy Intensity
B/ BEER H¥EE H¥EE ERBE
(unit) (kwh)
(Ef1) (FRE)
Petrol 3,834 L 34,950 421 kWh/FTE  0.76 kWh/unit of product sold
) 3,8347t A1FEE/  076THE/ SHEHER
BREBIES
Purchased electricity 171,416 kWh 171,416 2,065 KWh/FTE  3.72 kWh/unit of product sold
FiBE N 171,416 T FLES 2065FRE,/  372FREE/SHELER
BREBIES
Group total 206,366 2,486 KWh/FTE  4.48 kWh/unit of product sold
£@Est 2486 TEB,/  448TEE/BHEHER
BE2BES
Note: Higt -

Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy
Statistics Manual and 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
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A2.2 Water Consumption

Freshwater consumed for daily business operations is
supplied by municipal freshwater supplier. Water is
mainly used for domestic use and in the production
of reagents. During the Reporting Period, the
water consumption for the Group was 1,870 m?3,
contributing to a water intensity of 22.5 m?/FTE or
0.04 m? per unit of product sold.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group’s major energy consumption is petrol
consumption by vehicles and electricity consumption.
The Group regularly monitors the usage of energy
to achieve maximum consumption efficiency. The
Group has formulated a series of measures to reduce
electricity consumption and increase electricity
efficiency. Energy conservation initiatives adopted by
the Group include:

e maintaining all default temperature settings of
air conditioners at 25.5°C;

e choosing low-carbon and energy-efficient
products and appliances;

e setting computers to energy-saving mode when
idle; and

e switching off office equipment and electronic
devices after office hours.

In the long run, the Group has established a 10-
year Group-wise energy reduction target to reduce
electricity use by 20% by the fiscal year of 2030.

B HBREARE

A2.2 KSEEE

H & E 158 E HRERAIK T B T IEUAK
HEREHE - KEZRIEEEAKEA
REERDE - RNiEHE - AEEER
BIK K A 1,8703L 73K - KBRE H22.5
NAEK/ FRrBEEMEHELER
0.0437 52K

BER(E A RUREE
AREBENEBERBRRTEN A MB
FRENER - AEBEHEZEERRNE
o RERRERFERE - $Elaﬂ
E—RIBRASHORERRETAE
o REBRNHEEEE BRI

e MBZEHNMBEEAREER
25.5°C >

o EEBEMREEEMERNES

. RBABEEELIBAREBRET
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FEME - ARBEDRUI0FEEERE
BR UWHIR -—ZE=ZF N RFEAE
B20% °
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A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

No issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose
was identified during the Reporting Period. To
sustain water resources, the Group encourages
water conservation and reminds all staff members to
reduce water wastage whenever possible. Compared
to the Last Reporting Period, the water intensity
declined by 30% measured by number of FTE . In the
long run, the Group has set a 10-year Group-wise
water reduction target to reduce water use by 20%
by the fiscal year of 2030.

Water conservation initiatives adopted by the Group
include:

¢ reminding employees to turn off water taps
after use;

e putting up posters related to water resource
conservation at prominent locations;

e monitoring the water usage patterns; and

e enforcing inspections and maintenance to
prevent wastage of water resources.

A2.5 Packaging Materials

Paper cartons and plastics were widely used
as packaging materials for different product
presentations. During the Reporting Period, a
total of 3.25 tonnes of packaging materials were
consumed, including carton boxes, polyethylene and
polypropylene, contributing to an intensity of 0.07
kg per unit of product sold, a reduction of 7.0%
compared to the Last Reporting Period. All packaging
materials have undergone rigorous quality control
tests before use.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group’s business activities do not pose
any major significant adverse impacts on the
environment, except for the minor impact arising
from consumption of energy resources and fuels.
The Group’s Environmental Management Policy aims
to facilitate rational and efficient use of resources
such as energy, water and other raw materials.
The Group also carries out various measures for
reducing GHG emissions and advocating resource
conversation through the 3R’s (namely reducing
waste, reusing, and recycling resources) principle.
During the Reporting Period, any waste, wastewater,
or emissions that posed adverse impacts to human or
environment was appropriately managed, controlled,
and treated prior to release into the environment.

Electricity consumption was the largest component
of the Group’s energy, making up nearly 83% of
total energy consumed. To reduce electricity use, the
Group has specifically adopted various management
measures. For instances, the Group has provided
education to employees to raise their awareness of
energy conservation and given preference to low-
carbon and energy-saving appliances.

Looking forward, the Group will persist in operating
the business in an environmentally responsible
manner and drive a continual improvement in its
business processes, products, and services with as
little impact on the environment as possible.
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A4. Climate Change

Huakang acknowledges that it has a role in limiting
climate change, and that climate change may impose
an impact in limiting the Group's operations. To
better identify and address the risks involved, the
Group is committed to looking at climate change
issues together with other ESG issues. This means the
Board will take initiative in assessing climate-change
related matters with the support of management.
When material aspects are identified, polices shall be
formulated to address them.

With climate change issues considered, Huakang may
be threatened by both physical risks and transition
risks. For all of Huakangs’' operations, event-
driven extreme weather may disrupt supply chains
which would interrupt business activities and affect
revenues; and cost may be incurred by the Group
to meet with newly enforced laws and regulations
and market driven changes as a response to climate
change.

That being said, Huakang remains hopeful knowing
that it can bring positive impacts to the environment.
Understanding its more significant environmental
effects being (i) the emissions of air pollutants
and greenhouse gases from the consumption of
purchased electricity and fuel, and (ii) the generation
of certain waste from daily operations, guiding
policies have been established to improve the
Group’s environmental performance.
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B1.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL
Employment and Labor Practices
Employment

The Group strictly abides by all applicable laws and
regulations in relation to employment in the PRC,
Hong Kong, and the United Kingdom during the
Reporting Period, including but not limited to:

e Labor Law of the PRC;
e |abor Contract Law of the PRC;
e  The Social Insurance Law of the PRC;

e Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female
Employees;

e  Social Insurance Law of the PRC;
e Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees;

e Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child
Labor;

e The Hong Kong Employment Ordinance; and

e United Kingdom Employment law, Labour Law
and all relevant laws.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare of the Group.

B1.
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As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total
number of 83 employees. All of them were full-time
employees. The employee structure sorted by gender,

age group, function and geographical regions are
shown below.

Distribution of Employees by Gender
EEMRI DM

Distribution of Employees by Job Function

EEMAED
Frontline and Office Staff  Senior Management
AR N AEET =SAREEE

3

Middle
Management

FRERE

9
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Distribution of Employees by Age Group
EEFRAR 2
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The Employee Manual outlines detailed policies
regarding recruitment and dismissal, remuneration
and compensation, appraisal and promotion,
attendance, compensation leave, etc. Employees
are required to follow strictly the code of conduct
and ethics, which establishes the Group’s ethical
standards and expectation of employees.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits

The Group offers an equitable and competitive
remuneration package to attract and to retain talent.
In addition to basic wages, the Group offers overtime
pay, attendance bonuses, seniority bonuses, housing
allowance, and a discretionary performance bonus.
The Group also safeguards the legitimate interests
of its employees, respects the rights of employees
to rest and leave, and regulates their working hours
and their rights for various types of rest time and
holidays. Apart from medical coverage and statutory
holidays, employees are entitled to a range of leave
including marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, sick leave and bereavement leave.

Performance Review and Promotion

The Group provides development opportunities to
its employees through regular performance-based
appraisals, to understand their work performance in
a clear way through feedback from their supervisors
and develop excellent personal growth and ongoing
career developments. According to the promotion
policy, employees are eligible for career advancement
within the Group based on their competencies and
suitability for higher-ranking positions.
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Equal Opportunity

The Group respects the differences in employees.
Fair labor practices are followed within the Group
to eliminate discrimination. Employees are provided
with equal opportunities in respect of recruitment,
employment, training and development, promotion,
compensation and benefits, whether on the basis of
race, religion, nationality, ethnicity, age, gender or
disability. There was no non-compliance relating to
equal opportunity, diversity, and anti-discrimination
during the Reporting Period.

Employee Relations

The Group strives to foster a strong sense of
belonging with employees and ensure that every
voice is heard through transparent communication
channels. Regular meetings are held to collect
employee opinions, suggestions, and complaints
which are handled promptly.
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Turnover

The Group considers offering a more attractive
remuneration package and benefits to retain talent
based on the Group’s business situation. A total of 8
full-time employees have left the Group during the
Reporting Period, representing an annual turnover
rate’ of 9%. The employee turnover rate? by gender,
age group and geographical locations are as follows:

TURNOVER RATE

EBERLRE
0.0% 10.0% 20.0%
g c Mainland China o
555 SRE R 4%
= © =
o9 B Hong Kong
g= = & | 00%
= Female .
_§ EE M 5.9%
L I
S el I s
46-55
46%555% 0.0%
o 36-45
3 = 3674557 ) 2.6%
S % 26-35
2 26%355% 0.0%

RIR - HERERERE

Atk
AEEEBREAEEN L ERE
ST A3 00 F BB RE RIS
AT o RIS - &8 R2RIES
BRAEE  FERAE RO% « I
R - IR RIS R 5 IR B
KR -

40.0% 50.0% 60.0%

18-25
182557 [ 0 0°:

The annual turnover rate is calculated by total number of
employees who left the Group in the reporting period/
number of employees as at the end of the reporting
period*100%. Employees who leave the Group within
probationary period are not counted.

Turnover rate refers to total number of employee turnover
in the specific group throughout the reporting period/total
number of employees of the corresponding group as at
the end of the reporting period*100%.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to creating an accident and
injury-free working environment for its employees.
During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly
complied with all national laws, regulations and
standards in safeguarding workplace health
and safety, including the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Production Safety Law of the PRC and Regulation
on Work-Related Injury Insurance. The Group
has maintained its Work Safety Standardization
certification for its manufacturing operation in
Shenzhen since 2016.

The Group has in place various safety rules and
guidelines to address various situations and issues.
All frontline workers are required to strictly follow
the safe working practice code. To further enhance
workplace safety, the Group conducts regular health
and safety audits to identify safety risks and carries
out investigations for hidden hazards.

Apart from providing personal protective
equipment for employees engaging in activities
where occupational hazards can potentially arise,
annual health check-ups are offered to ensure
timely treatment can be given. Safety education
and training programs are also provided for the
employees to increase their awareness and improve
their work safety skills.
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The Group has developed contingency plans and
emergency procedures for foreseeable workplace
emergencies. Emergency evacuation plans are
displayed at conspicuous locations. The Group
organizes fire drills every year to ensure that all
employees are familiar with the evacuation routes in
emergency situations.

In the past 3 years, no fatalities of the Group’s
employees have been recorded. No work injury
case or material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to occupational health
and safety of the Group was recorded during the
Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Statistics in

B HBREARE

AEBORAERZ TIESAESEMN
HERSAEIREREF - BREBGT
SRMNBERLE - AEEEFHEH
BOBP R B AR REROAINE
=BT ZBUBEAR
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BEMETESR - RREHMA - A EE
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ENEDIR
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FY2021 ZEEE

Work related fatality TR 0

Work injury cases >3 days THEER> =K 0

Work injury cases <3 days IBESEH < =X 0

Lost days due to work injury EIEELIER 0 day
PN
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Responses to the Epidemic

A series of anti-epidemic measures have been
put in place to contain the spread of the virus
in the community and protect the wellbeing of
staff. In addition to stepping up the sanitation of
the facilities, the Group has also enforced social
distancing measures in the workplace, conducted
temperature checks for employees, and provided
disinfection supplies such as face masks and hand
sanitizers.

Moreover, the Group has introduced isolation
arrangements for employees with COVID-19
symptoms. In the event of a suspected case of
COVID-19, the Group will arrange enhanced cleaning
and disinfection measures at the relevant area and
report the suspected case to hospitals in accordance
with the reporting criteria and guidelines issued by
the local government. Any infected employee will be
placed in quarantine as soon as is practical, and all
staff are tested for the virus.

Development and Training

Employee development is vital to the sustainable
growth of the Group. The administration department
is responsible for developing annual training
plans pertaining to the various training needs of
employees. Where appropriate, employees are
assessed upon recruitment and reviewed periodically
thereafter for their proficiency in vocational
skills through examinations. Through providing
comprehensive training programs, the Group
ensures that all employees, including R&D personnel,
technicians, or production workers whose experience
and qualifications meet the requirements of relevant
positions.
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During the Reporting Period, 98% of the Group's
employees received training; the total training
hours and the average training hours per employee
were 843.5 hours and 10.2 hours per employee
respectively.

B HBREARE

REREERR - KEEIS%HE B EFIE
A IR E kSR ES FHYEIIE
HH R ATLIRES43.5/NE % 10.2/N
B o

Average

Training training

percentage hours

Gender BRI 8 5 ZIEDE FHZINEH
Male B4 98% 10.18
Female gk 97% 10.14
Average

Training training

percentage hours

Employee grade RETIRAE D Fillaott FEZINRE
Frontline employees AIARE T 95% 10.94
Middle management PAREIEE 90% 10.90
Senior management SRERE 100% 10.02

The Group organized the following internal training
and development seminars during the Reporting
period:

e Anti-Corruption talk (ICAC)

e  Listing Rules and Director’s role training

e Anti-Corruption talk

e QOccupational Health and Safety Training
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During the Reporting Period, the Group organized
training sessions covering a broad range of topics for
employees from different departments. Some of the

events that the Group attended are as follows:

Name of Conference
eRaE

RBERR - AEBSTRFFINE T
ZHTZRIENIZIIER - AEEZ

B S EEAT
Time Location
RS i 25

CACLP The 18th international medical
testing and blood transfusion reagents

equipment Conference
FTN\EERRREEE

AEEEe

The 9th Guangxi Association of
Integrative Medicine (Andrology)

academic conference

FHEEATAEESSE

St e

2021 LingNan male reproductive
endocrinology and infertility conference

T FEEBULEEAN MR

NREH &

The 11th Guangdong reproductive
endocrinology and infertility academic

conference

F+—EEREBEAD ML TR

St g

2021 Male infertility guide workshop
—E- BN PEREHNE

2021 Reproductive endocrinology and

heredity conference

“ECFAEADUMEENEE
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21-23 March 2021

—E-—F=H—-+—H
Z2-+=H

10-12 September 2021

—E-—FhA+HEE+=H

7-9 May 2021

—E_—FAAtHEENRA

18-19 September 2021
“E-FAA+TN\RE
ThH

31 October 2021
T —F+HA=+—H

26-27 November 2021

—E-—%+—A=+"H

2—-++H

Chongging International
Expo Center

EEFBREED L

Beihai Excemon Beach
Hotel

e R ST

Ramada Plaza
Guangzhou

BMBREREZES
B

Sofitel Guangzhou
Sunrich Hotel

MBS RIEFR B S

Virtuous World Hotel
BRI

DoubleTree by Hilton
Guangzhou Science
City
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Time

FF

Name of Conference

Eﬂ%%%

R HERERERE

Location

HuE

2021 Hunan Province Medical Society
reproductive endocrinology and

3-5 December 2021

Ramada Plaza by
Wyndham Changsha

infertility academic conference Wangcheng
“EC-FHEEBRERLEAN WKL ——F+ZA=ZBERHB RAEXEZHE
NS &

2021 Shenzhen DongGuang Huizhou
Semen analysis external quality control

15-16 October 2021

Shenzhen Zhongshan
Urological Hospital

conference
—E-—FRI - REERBMEBHET —E-_—Ft+At+HEHAZE RN LA PR INEHER B
DHTINEBE EFEH 2% +75H

2021 Hubei Province Semen analysis
external quality control conference

R FHILERTANIMNEEE
S

Labor Standards

The Group adheres to a strict philosophy of a society
free of child labor and forced labor. There was no
child labor nor forced labor employed in the Group;
no cases of non-compliance of relevant laws and
regulations in relation to labor standards were
recorded during the Reporting Period.

The Group complies with the Labor Law of the PRC,
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
and internal recruitment guidelines which prohibits
the employment of workers under the age of 16
in operations. The human resources department
verifies candidates’ valid identity documentation,
age, and working permit to prevent child labor,
forced labor and other forms of unlawful labor. As
such, employees hired by the Group are deemed to
meet the relevant legal requirements. Consequences
of breaching the conditions include immediate
termination of contract.

8-10 June 2021

——FXXANBET+H

Tongji Hospital
Reproduction
Medicine Center

[7] 75 B8 B A JE B 2R 0
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B5.

The Group ensures reasonable working hours
and paid holidays in accordance with all national
employment laws and requirements. The working
hours of the employees are enforced in accordance
with the requirements of relevant local laws and
regulations; thus, no forced labor is allowed. The
Group encourages the employees to complete their
daily work within the specified working hours.
When overtime work by special arrangement is
unavoidable, employees are eligible for overtime pay
based on the agreed hourly wage.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engaged 57 suppliers during the
Reporting Period. 52 of them were in the PRC
primarily providing raw and auxiliary materials for
the manufacturing of IVD reagents. The remaining
5 suppliers were from Canada, Hong Kong, the
PRC and Japan and supplied to the Hong Kong
office. The Group adopts an integrated approach in
screening and evaluating all potential and existing
suppliers. In selecting suppliers, the Group assesses
suppliers against agreed criteria including production
capability, environmental and social considerations,
product efficacy and quality management systems.
The performance of all qualified suppliers is regularly
monitored through the submission of testing reports
and documentation to demonstrate consistent
conformance to all applicable statutory and
regulatory requirements.

All suppliers are evaluated according to not
only conformance to all applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements, but also on their
environmental credentials. If a supplier is deemed
to be in non-performance of its social and
environmental obligations, it will be asked to rectify
the failure as soon as is practical. If non-conformance
continues, the supplier will be removed from the
supply chain.
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On-site assessments, when needed, are conducted
to ensure that the facility, systems, and products
provided by the suppliers are compliant with the
Group'’s stringent requirements on quality, workplace
safety and hygiene. If a significant non-conformance
is proved, the Group may consider disqualifying
or terminating the partnership with the concerned
supplier.

Product and Service Responsibility
Quality Assurance

The Group is committed to delivering safe, effective,
and reliable IVD reagent products that have attained
the highest quality standards. Aligning with the
Group’s corporate quality values, the Group has
obtained the ISO 13485:2003 certification for
medical device manufacturing and implemented a
quality management system according to the current
good manufacturing practices (the “cGMP"). During
the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied
with all relevant laws and standards established
by the China Food and Drug Administration (the
“CFDA") in the manufacturing of IVD reagents and
kits, which included:

e YY/T 0287-2017 standard (i.e., Medical Devices
— Quality Management Systems — Requirements
for Regulatory Purposes);

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Appendix on In-Vitro Diagnostic
Reagents;

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Guidelines for Onsite Inspection of In-

Vitro Diagnostic Reagents;

e Regulations on Supervision and Administration
of Medical Devices;

e  Contract Law of the PRC; and

e  Product Quality Law of the PRC.
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The Group’s quality manual outlines the
organizational roles, authorities, as well as
responsibilities for the accountable quality
management across the Group. Specific production
activities are required to be performed in the
designated Class 10,000 and 100,000 cleanrooms
in compliance with the ISO 14644-1 Cleanroom
standard. Moreover, air-sensitive reagent products
are stored under controlled conditions, i.e., at a
consistent temperature within the range of 2°C-8°C.

Customer Services and Product Recall

The Group values the importance of customer loyalty
and is committed to building and maintaining a
stable and long-term relationship with its customers.
The Group cares about customer satisfaction
throughout the entire business process from product
sales to after-sales service. Customer satisfaction
surveys help the Group gain valuable insight into its
performance and identify improvements, thereby
continuously improving the Group’s product and
service quality as well as enhancing customer
experience. Apart from conducting customer reviews,
the Group also constantly explores ways to improve
its products through research and development.

The Group has developed effective mechanisms
and handling procedures for dealing with customer
complaints and product recalls. Any complaints
received will be formally investigated and any
necessary follow-up actions are taken in timely
manner. The Group carries out investigation and
identifies corrective and preventive actions for
each complaint to prevent recurrence. During the
Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints
related to products and services provided, all the
enquiries had been resolved to the customers’
satisfaction. No material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in relation to customer
services of the Group was identified during the
Reporting Period.
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The Group’s product recall procedure is formulated
in accordance with the Administrative Measures
for Medical Device Recalls established by CFDA.
The quality control department undertakes quality
inspections at different stages of the production
process. In the event of detecting defective products,
the Group will suspend the sale of the concerned
products and notify related customers immediately
for product recall and replacement. There was no
product recalled due to safety and health reasons
and no material non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group in relation to product health and safety
recorded during the Reporting Period.

Data Protection and Privacy

The Group pays special attention to confidentiality
and privacy issue of the Group and third parties. The
confidentiality policy stipulates that all employees are
prohibited from disclosing confidential information
(e.g., trade secrets, proprietary information,
customers data, etc.) to anyone outside of the Group
to others and use them for personal benefit or profit.
In addition, the Group restricts access to confidential
information and trade secrets, except to authorized
persons permitted by the Group. No major incidents
that impacted the Group’s operations or infringed
upon client privacy occurred during the Reporting
Period.
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Intellectual Property

The Group understands the importance of originality
and appreciates the hard work of the R&D team. The
Group’s Intellectual Property (the “IP”) Rights Policy
aims to protect IP owned by the Group and third
parties in pursuant to the Trademark Law of the PRC
and Patent Law of the PRC.

Furthermore, financial incentives are offered to
motivate the Group’s employees to invent new
products as well as innovative patent projects.
The Group also closely monitors the infringement
actions in the market and actively combats any
infringements. Any unauthorized use of IP rights may
give rise to legal liability. No major incidents relating
to infringement of IP rights occurred during the
Reporting Period.

Having the IP management system in place,
the Group has accelerated the application and
maintenance of patents for its own production
design and technology, ensuring the value of
intellectual property are well respected and
recognized within the Group. As of 31 December
2021, the Group had obtained a total of 19 issued
patents for its inventions.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and
corruption. The Group’s ethical standards are
clearly set out in the code of conduct and ethics
and Employee Manual, which requires all business
activities to be operated with the highest level of
integrity. The Anti-corruption Policy strictly prohibits
any corrupt acts, practices, and activities within the
Group. The Group strictly controls gifts, meals, and
entertainment that could give the mere appearance
of impropriety. Employees are encouraged to report
any instance or suspected instance of bribery or
corruption related to the Group directly to the
Group.

All staff are encouraged to keep up to date with the
latest anti-corruption guidelines by reading the PRC
Criminal Law and the PRC Anti-unfair Competition
Act, applying to official bribery and commercial
bribery.

The ICAC conducted Anti-Corruption training in
December 2021 for the Directors of the Group.
Training material from this training was then
disseminated to staff in both Hong Kong and in the
PRC.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was in full
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations,
including the Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the PRC, Anti-money Laundering
Law of the PRC and Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery. There was no concluded legal
case regarding corrupt practices brought against the
Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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Whistle-blowing Policy

A whistle-blowing system is established for
employees and other relevant parties to report any
suspected misconducts, malpractices, and unlawful
or unethical behaviors within the workplace.
Whistle-blowers can make confidential reports to
the management of the Group, and are reassured to
be protected against unfair dismissal, victimization,
and unwarranted disciplinary action. Every reported
case will be followed through in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Policy and related procedures.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to supporting the public by
means of social participation and contribution as part
of its strategic development. To nurture corporate
culture and strengthen practices of corporate
citizenship, the Group embraces human capital
into the social management strategies to sustain
its corporate social responsibility and support the
Group's strategic development. The Group maintains
communications with stakeholders from time to
time to understand the needs of the communities
where the Group operates in and to ensure the
communities’ interests are taken into consideration.
The Group also encourages its employees to take
part in various community events to strengthen
team spirit while caring for vulnerable populations.
In the future, the Group will continue to discharge
its corporate social responsibility to care for the
community and build a harmonious society.

On 1 December 2021, Nutronic HK participated in an
event organized by the Rotary Club of Peninsula East
entitled “Improving the health of under privileged
women and their babies”, donating a years supply
of health supplements and conducting a seminar
focusing on how health products can benefit under
privileged woman in Hong Kong and their children.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEWRE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual
report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 3 August
2017.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment
holding company. Details of the principal activities and
other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 33 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in research and
development, manufacture, marketing and sales of
IVD reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC. There were no significant changes
to the Group's principal activities during the current year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

A discussion and analysis of the activities of the Company
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business and Group’s key relationship with
its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the
Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 4 to 5 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 19 of this Report. The above form part of
this directors’ report.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties of the
Group are set out in notes 2 and 30 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
Report on page 6 to 19.

Investors are advised to make their own judgement or
consult their own investment advisors before making any
investment in the Shares.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

Details of the intended uses and utilised amount are set
out on page 15 of this Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
on page 51 to 86 of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted risk management and internal
control policies to monitor the on-going compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of our Group during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 119 of
this Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 12 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 122 and note 35(b) in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Company may pay dividends out of the profit or the
share premium account in accordance with the provisions
of Articles of Association, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company remains able to pay the
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. As at 31 December 2021, the Company's
reserves available for distribution to shareholders
comprising share premium and accumulated profits of
the Group, amounted to approximately RMB47.3 million.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the most recent four years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” on page 232 of this
Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021
and up to the date of this Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Chan Kin Sang
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Such
retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. All Directors
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of shareholders after
their appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, all the current Directors will retire at the
forthcoming AGM where they will offer themselves for
re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 20 to 26 of this Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than the service contracts, concerning
management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s businesses was entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael, who were appointed on
25 September 2017, has entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from the Listing Date,
which has no fixed term and can be terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing
to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming, who was appointed
on 14 January 2020, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from the date of appointment and
can be terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment
letter with our Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from their respective appointment dates
unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

As at 31 December 2021, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 32 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by controling shareholders of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company, or any
of its holding companies or subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director, Controlling Shareholders of the
Company and their respective connected parties had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of the associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO")) which, once the Shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, will have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or will be required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or will be required, pursuant to the
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of
listed issuers, will be as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
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Name of Directors/ Capacity/ ordinary shares  share options Total  Percentage of
Chief Executive Nature of Interest held® held® interest  shareholding?

Firf Firf ki
EZ/BRTRABHE 5/ BRME EEREAY  BREHEY st Al
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Interests of controlled corporation 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%

and concert party”

REXEE REEEERR-BTPALE
Mr. Zhang Chunguang Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
REXEE EnfEBA
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
ARELE ERERA
Mr. He Jiaming Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 1.0%
e ERERA
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Notes:
(1) Allinterest stated are long positions.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of
400,000,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

(3) On 16 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr.
Chang Yim Yang entered into the Acting-in-concert
Confirmation (“Confirmation”) to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they have been and
will be actively cooperating, communicating, and acting
in concert with each other with respect to their interest
in or the business of the relevant members of our Group
since they became shareholders of the Company and
will continue to act in concert after the signing of the
Confirmation. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “History and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus.
The aggregate of 240,000,000 Shares and 4,000,000
share options are deemed to be interested by them in
aggregate under the SFO, consist of (i) 144,576,000
Shares held by Crystal Grant Limited (“Crystal Grant”), a
company wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, in which
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested under
the SFO; and (ii) 95,424,000 Shares held by Ever Charming
Inc. (“Ever Charming”), a company wholly owned by
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, in which Mr. Zhang Shuguang is
deemed to be interested as a result of being a party acting
in concert with Mr. Chang Yim Yang; and (iii) 4,000,000
share options granted to Mr. Zhang Shuguang on 9 April
2020.

(4) Details of the underlying Shares of the Company held

by the Director/chief executives are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of Associated
Corporations

Name of Directors/ Name of Associated Capacity/

REEEEEERZHR

Number of ordinary ~ Percentage of

Chief Executive Corporation Nature of Interest shares held®°® shareholding

ES BRTHRABHE HEBHEEER 5%,/ EEitE FrEEdRE e BREBDLE

Mr. Zhang Shuguang Crystal Grant Beneficial owner 100 shares of US$1.00 100%
each

RENEE Crystal Grant ExBEBA 1008 &% 1.00%€ T2 100%
win

Note: Hist -

All interest stated are long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he is taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which would be required
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Others Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which fell to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRREMATRRD RAEER G &
wmRIAE

R-ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H BEEFM
A TRNALBIFEEENIERARBRST
BAB)REOXEERDFPHEEIREES
NEAEIEHIEXVELE2 R EIN AR AR
B MBI ER - SREERR AR RIIRIERE 5
MAEREIEBIE336IGATE 2SR AR
KR

Numberof ~ Number of Percentage
Capacity/ ordinary share Total of
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest shares held® options held“ interest  shareholding
firi% Firi% ki
BRES,/ £ a8t/ BEME EERMEY BREHAY  EREs AL
Crystal Grant Beneficial owner and 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%
concert party™”
Crystal Grant ERBBAR-BITBALY
Ever Charming Beneficial owner and 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%
concert party™”
Fver Charming ERBBAR-BITBALY
Mr. Chang Yim Yang Interests of controlled corporation” 240,000,000 4,000,000 244,000,000 61.0%
REGLE RAEEEER
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Notes:

)

On 16 November 2017, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and
Mr. Chang Yim Yang entered into the Confirmation
to acknowledge and confirm, among other things,
that they have been and will be actively cooperating,
communicating, and acting in concert with each other with
respect to their interest in or the business of the relevant
members of our Group since they became shareholders
of the Company and will continue to act in concert after
the signing of the Confirmation. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “History and Reorganisation”
in the Prospectus. The aggregate of 240,000,000 Shares
and 4,000,000 share options are deemed to be interested
by them in aggregate under the SFO, consist of (i)
144,576,000 Shares held by Crystal Grant, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, in which Mr.
Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested under the
SFO; (ii) 95,424,000 Shares held by Ever Charming, a
company wholly owned by Mr. Chang Yim Yang, in which
Mr. Zhang Shuguang is deemed to be interested as a
result of being a party acting in concert with Mr. Chang
Yim Yang; and (iii) 4,000,000 share options granted to Mr.
Zhang Shuguang on 9 April 2020.

All interests stated are long positions.
Details of the underlying shares of the Company held

by the substantial shareholder are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to
the date of this Report, have the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM listing rules) had any
interests in, or had been granted, or exercised any rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of SFO).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgement is given in his favour, or
in which he is acquitted. The Company has maintained
liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021.

COMPETING INTEREST

The Directors confirm that none of the controlling
shareholders or the Directors and their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is like to
compete, directly or indirectly, with our Group's business
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this Report.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 27 November 2018, the Company entered into the
Deed of Non-competition with each of the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Deed of
Non-competition, each of the Controlling Shareholders
have undertaken, jointly and severally, to the Company
that they would not, and would procure their respective
close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and/
or companies controlled by the respective Controlling
Shareholders not to, directly or indirectly, either on their
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any
person, firm or company, among other things, carry on,
participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire or
hold (in each case whether as a shareholder, partner,
agent or otherwise) any business or activity which is or
may be in competition with the business of the Group.
Details of the Deed of Non-competition are disclosed in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus. The Company has
received an annual declaration in writing from each
of the Controlling Shareholders confirming that he/it
had complied with the non-competition undertakings
provided to the Company under the Deed of Non-
competition. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the status of compliance and enforcement
of the Deed of Non-competition and confirmed that all
the undertakings thereunder have been complied with
since the date of the execution of the same and up to 31
December 2021.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in note 32 in the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as mentioned in the section “Connected
Transactions” below, other related party transactions did
not constitute connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Shenzhen Huakang (as tenant) and Shenzhen Junxuan
Biological Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Junxuan”)
(as landlord) entered into tenancy agreements, pursuant
to which Shenzhen Junxuan agrees to rent out Junxuan
Property to Shenzhen Huakang for a term of three
years ending on 13 September 2023 (the “Tenancy
Agreement(s)”) ™t

Pursuant to HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Company shall
recognise the premises leased under Tenancy Agreement
as a right-of-use asset in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The entering into of the Tenancy
Agreement is regarded as an acquisition of asset under
the definition of transaction as set out in Rule 19.04(1)
(a) of the GEM Listing Rules. The aggregated value of the
right-of-use asset initially recognised under the Tenancy
Agreement was approximately RMB2,036,000.

Note:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, our Controlling Shareholder, executive
Director and chairman of our Board, holds the entire equity
interest in Shenzhen Junxuan. Therefore, Shenzhen Junxuan is
an associate of Mr. Zhang Shuguang pursuant to Rule 20.10(1)
(c) of the GEM Listing Rules, and thus it is a connected person
of our Company under the GEM Listing Rules. The transaction
under the Tenancy Agreements (as defined above) constitutes a
connected transaction of our Company under the GEM Listing
Rules.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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Pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, a
transaction was entered into by the Group with the
connected person (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules) which constituted a connected transaction
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The relevant
applicable ratios (other than the profit ratios) under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules were less than 5.0%
and the total consideration was less than HK$3.0 million,
and therefore pursuant to Rule 20.74 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the connected transaction contemplated herein
was fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees, and certain policies have been implemented to
ensure that its employees are provided with competitive
remuneration, good welfare benefits and continuous
professional training. The Group also maintains good
relationships with its customers and suppliers, without
whom success in the Group’s production and operation
would be at risk.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on
13 January 2020. The Share Option Scheme is a long-
term incentive scheme of the Company to reward it's
employees, Directors and other eligible participants for
their contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high calibre employees
and other eligible participants who are instrumental to
the growth and development of the Group.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:
(a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”); (b) any non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or
entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity, and
any company wholly owned by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes.

Subject to the earlier termination of the Share Option
Scheme in accordance with the rules thereof, the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of adoption.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise
of options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme adopted by the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
grantee within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
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Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding for this purpose
options which have lapsed) which have been or may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any share
option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme and as at the end of
Reporting Period and the date of approval of this Report.
The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors, which period
may commence from the date of the offer of the share
options, and ends on a date which is not later than ten
years from the date of grant of the share options subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof.
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The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted
on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 23,504,000
(2020: 25,504,000) share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme. Please refer to paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” for further details.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Detail of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of our Group are set out in note
8 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements in
this Report.

There was no arrangement under which a Director has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Save for Directors’ fees, none of the independent non-
executive Directors is expected to receive any other
remuneration for holding their office as an independent
non-executive Director.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employee of the Group is
set up by the management on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. Under the emolument
policy, the basis of determining the emolument payable
to Directors is subject to the decision of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group has 83 full-time employees (2020: 80) located
in Hong Kong and the PRC for operation. Detail of the
staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration, incurred
by the Group are set out in note 7 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements in this Report.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine
the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors’ regarding their responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to our Group and the performance of our Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer contributed approximately
10.3% (2020: approximately 11.2%) of the total revenue
for the year while the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 28.8% (2020: approximately
26.3%) of the total revenue for the year. The Group's
largest supplier contributed approximately 12.5% (2020:
approximately 16.7%) of the total purchase for the year
while the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 52.0% (2020: approximately 62.2%) of
the total purchase for the year.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021
have the Directors, any of their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares)
had any beneficial interest in any of the above major
customers and suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by
the Company, or subsisting during the year ended 31
December 2021.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year 31 December 2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirm that the Company complies with
the minimum of public float of 25% under the GEM
Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and
ensuring a high level of corporate governance standards
and will review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards constantly. Details of the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 27 to 50 of this Report.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation
available to the shareholders by reason of their holdings
of the Shares. If the shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional
advisers.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2021, the Company was not involved
in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or arbitration were pending or threatened or
made against the Company so far as the Company is
aware.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere, the Board is not aware
of any material event requiring disclosure, that has taken
place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this Report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company will be published and dispatched to
shareholders in the manner specified in the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.
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REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee with its
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions C.3.3 and
C.3.7* of the CG Code. The Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai
Joseph and Mr. Chan Kin Sang.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements and is of the opinion
that the preparation of such statements complied with
the applicable accounting standards, the requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been
made.

*  With effect from 1 January 2022, code provision C.3.3 has
been re-designated as D.3.3 and code provision C.3.7 has
been re-designated as D.3.7
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been audited by Mazars,
who shall retire and, being eligible, offers itself for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
for re-appointment of Mazars as auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 19 December 2019. With
the recommendation from the Audit Committee, Mazars
has been appointed as the new auditor with effect from
19 December 2019. Please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 19 December 2019 for more details.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward looking statements with
respect to the financial conditions, results of operations
and business of the Group. These forward looking
statements represent the Company’s expectations or
beliefs concerning future events and involve known and
unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual
results, performance or events to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2 BEN RS

mazars
R E KX WK

To the members of
Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 119 to 231,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net
trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB9,399,000 and out of these trade
receivables of approximately RMB8,259,000
were past due. The Group recorded net
impairment losses on trade receivables of
approximately RMB637,000 debited to profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the Group’s lifetime expected credit
losses (“ECL"”) on trade receivables as at 31
December 2021 amounted to approximately
RMB3,998,000.

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables
based on provision matrix through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns,
after considering internal credit assessment of
trade debtors and past due status of respective
trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information.

In addition, trade receivables that are credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The
loss allowance amount of the credit impaired
trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future losses.

We identified impairment assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due
to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group's consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of
the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 17
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures, among others, included:

a)

Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for trade receivables;

Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix
including testing individual customers’ credit
assessment, on a sample basis, through analysing
their nature, size and past due status with
the underlying supporting documents and
comparing the internal credit assessment made
by management on these customers;

Evaluating management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables, including their identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of
management’s grouping of the remaining trade
debtors into different categories in the provision
matrix, and the basis of estimated credit loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix
(with reference to historical default rates and
forward-looking information); and

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the 2021 annual report of the
Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
50.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 24 March 2022

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan

Practising Certificate number: P07514
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmkEMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &

E_E-_—F+-A=+—HBIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
Notes RMB000 RMB’000
KiaF AR¥FT ARETT
Revenue g %5 3 26,127 21,967
Cost of sales SHERKAR (9,671) (7,249)
Gross profit EH| 16,456 14,718
Other income HAUA 5 775 650
Other gains and losses HA e K EE 6 (259) (1,062)
Selling and distribution expenses SHE ko HRSZ (8,346) (7.124)
Administrative expenses TRAX (9,353) (10,191)
Research and development expenses 252 (2,437) (2,253)
Provision for impairment losses on ME - BE X
property, plant and equipment RIEREE R A 12 - (2,556)
Provision for impairment losses on B 5 FE YR IE R (E E518
trade receivables, net B 30 (637) (787)
Reversal of impairment losses on H A BN IE R BB
other receivables, net e EbER 30 - 7
Equity-settled share-based payment VARSI AEE 7 % {7 B
expenses b3 26 - (2,660)
Finance costs BhE R 7 (102) (74)
Share of results of an associate DME—FHEERREE 15 - (40)
Loss before tax R AIEE 7 (3,903) (11,372)
Income tax expense FTiSHi A 9 (317) (255)
Loss for the year attributable to FRZEAQATEE A
owners of the Company FEihEsE (4,220) (11,627)
Other comprehensive income: HihZEWA -
Item that may be reclassified HiZr[ge BT E
subsequently to profit or loss B i) EH
Exchange difference on consolidation 43 &[E X Z=%8 66 141
Total comprehensive expense for & T #HE ABLER
the year attributable to owners 2B 4%
of the Company (4,154) (11,486)
RMB cents RMB cents
AR¥S AEE S
Loss per share attributable to VNI E 2 =N
owners of the Company BREE 10
Basic and diluted BERREE (1.06) (2.91)

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

e ISR R

At 31 December 2021 A=Z=——%F+_-_A=+—H

2021 2020
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
iorz3 AREFT ARETFT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 12 8,689 7,256
Right-of-use assets EREEE 13 1,664 2,432
Intangible assets | EE 14 3,043 2,924
Interest in an associate R—EEE ARz
s 15 - -
Deposits for acquisition of property, WM « FE &
plant and equipment w2z iEE - 1,079
13,396 13,691
Current assets REEE
Inventories 5E 16 4,210 2,766
Trade receivables 2 Z WA 17 9,399 9,503
Other receivables, deposits and HAb W ~ e
prepayments RIBRTRRIE 18 3,848 4,797
Bank balances and cash RITEBR NI 19 36,207 41,944
53,664 59,010
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B S IE 20 717 1,447
Other payables and accrued H b FE AT FRIE R FE T
charges g 21 4,395 3,961
Contract liabilities BHEE 22 2,171 2,143
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 1,019 1,406
Deferred income — government B A — U
grants D 23 15 45
Amount due to an associate AN NEIF ] 24 101 -
Tax payable JERI7 IR 219 264
8,637 9,266
Net current assets REBEEFRE 45,027 49,744
Total assets less current liabilities BEEZEFEABERE 58,423 63,435
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At 31 December 2021 R—Z=——F+_-_A=+—H

2021 2020
—B-—F —ET-EF
Notes RMB000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥FT ARETT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 13 665 1,236
Deferred income — government EEWA — U
grants il 23 53 340
718 1,576
NET ASSETS EEFRE 57,705 61,859
Capital and reserves BEXRK F#E
Share capital LN 27 3,509 3,509
Reserves it 54,196 58,350
TOTAL EQUITY S 57,705 61,859

The consolidated financial statements on pages 119 to
231 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors on 24 March 2022 and signed on its behalf

by:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang
REBNX KL

Director

EZE

BEeN - _F=-A_+WA#ERE
BETEZEHINEII9E231BENE A
HFMEIWBRATALTREKEE

Mr. Zhang Chunguang
REXRE
Director

EZE

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &

FE—

—Ft=A=t—ALLFE

Reserves
R
Share
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory ~ Translation option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total  Total equity
e RiEE ARG EERE ERfE  BRERRE Zihad N5t ERlE
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ANREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT AREFT AREFT
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (d)) (Note 26)
W) WEw) W9 BEe) (W)
At 1 January 2020 R=Z-%F-8-A 3,509 47,248 1,943 2302 (52) = 15,735 67,176 70,685
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = = (11,627) (11,627) (11,627)
Other comprehensive income: E2mEHA :
Item that may be reclassified ERET AR
subsequently to profit or foss
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ AER 28 - - - - 14 - - 141 141
Total comprehensive expense FRRERTAE
for the year = - = = 14 - (11,627) (11,486) (11,486)
Transactions with owners: BEEAZRS
Contributions and distributions HHRATE
Recognition of equity-settled TERNRIEES 2 RVERH
share-hased payment (Note 26) (Wiz2e) - - - - - 2,660 - 2,660 2,660
Forfeiture of share options (Note 26)  RMEETRiB(#7226) - - - - - (52) 5 = =
Total transactions with owners BEEAZRRAE - - - - - 2,608 5 2,660 2,660
At 31 December 2020 RZB-EETZA=1-A 3509 47,48 1,943 2,302 89 2,608 4,160 58,350 61,859
At 1 January 2021 R=Z--%-A-H 3,509 47,248 1,943 2,302 89 2,608 4,160 58,350 61,859
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (4.220 (4,220 (4,220
Other comprehensive income; A 2EkE
Item that may be reclassified -t LT gy EY il
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ EAE R - - - - 66 - - 66 66
Total comprehensive expense for ~ ER2ARZAE
the year - - - - 66 - (4,220) (4,154) (4,154)
Transactions with owners: BREAZRE
Contributions and distributions HARAT
Statutory reserve appropriation BfrAeRE - - - 50 - - (50) - -
Forfeiture of share options (Note 26)  JRUREETRIE(#i226) - - - - - (204) 204 - -
Total transactions with owners ~ EEBAZRZLE - - - 50 - (208) 154 - -
At 31 December 2021 R-B--£+-A=1-R 3,509 47,248 1,943 2352 155 2,404 94 54,196 57,705
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

Notes:

(a

*

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
or consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares
over their par value.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
combined capital of the Company’s subsidiaries, King
Grace Company Limited (“King Grace”) and & JIl # &
£ ETEE R A A (Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical
Engineering Limited*) (“Shenzhen Huakang”) and the
consideration paid for acquiring 44% equity interest of

Shenzhen Huakang by King Grace in 2017.

Statutory reserve is required to be appropriated from
profit after income tax of the entity which established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), determined
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC. Allocation to the statutory reserve shall be
approved by the board of directors of the PRC entity. The
appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance
of the statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC entity. The statutory reserve may be
used to make up losses or for conversion into capital.
The PRC entity may, upon the approval by a resolution of
shareholders’ general meeting/board of directors’ meeting,
convert the statutory reserve into capital in proportion to
the then existing shareholdings. However, when converting
the statutory reserve into capital, the balance of such
reserve remaining unconverted must not be less than 25%
of the registered capital of that entity.

Translation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
foreign currency translation as set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

English translation is for identification purpose only

izt -

(a)

(b)

B An s (B AN 1R R BT FT S SR F Bk
REBHEBRMNEE °

BARBERER-_Z—tF  KXAAKE
A 7] King Grace Company Limited ( [ King
Grace |) FORYIEREYBETEARAR]
([FRINERE]) 2 & BB AR EKing GraceFt U
BRINERIM% BRI MR EZHEE
o

EEFBEREPEARKNB((HEDE
BIERNER - NP BRI BRIV AE
BiiRm MR 2 1 - AT R TEELL B
ARTRERCEFTSIE o WATRHEE
FRET E BB EMEA50% + BIIAT 42 1FH2ER
EERE o EAERENRIEREBENER
RER - BBRRREZRER EEEEH
R - PEERBARERCAZKRE

P A E FRBIRREN  2Am - Wi
AEREERAER - SR NRER 2 HRRE
RS TSI RNZAEREMEARZ225% -

IE R REARE M SRR 2 Ent
SMEIE RN 2 S ETBRARSL MR IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
GEBRETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—T-—F+-A=+—HILtFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —ET-EF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KeEES
Loss before tax BRAEATEE (3,903) (11,372)
Adjustments for: RRFIEE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 261 330
Depreciation of property, ME - HERZEITE
plant and equipment 1,495 1,848
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFREEENTE 1,193 1,016
Equity-settled share-based VARR M 45 8 2 IR 17 EERE T 3R
payment expenses 53 - 2,660
Gain on lease modification MEET = - (11)
Interest income MEMA (179) (185)
Provision for impairment losses on ME - B RFEREBE
property, plant and equipment ] - 2,556
Provision for impairment losses on B 5 RWGRIE R B 185
trade receivables, net FEE 637 787
Reversal of impairment loss H b U R IE R (B S 1R 1 ]
on other receivables, net R - (7)
Release of deferred income EEW AL D (317) (45)
Share of result of an associate A E QRIS - 40
Write-off of property, Y~ B R EZE
plant and equipment - 33
Write-off of inventories ZiEEE 190 =
Finance costs BLE R 102 74
Operating cash flows before EELSSRHACKRERESRE
changes in working capital (521) (2,276)
Changes in working capital LEEEE
Inventories FE (1,634) (63)
Trade receivables B 5 WA (533) 211)
Other receivables, HAbEWRIE « e RFER
deposits and prepayments IE 949 (2,897)
Trade payables B Z RN RIE (730) 417
Other payables and accrued H b e B R FEET B R
charges 434 112
Contract liabilities BHAEE 28 1,851
Cash used in operations RETARE (2,007) (3.067)
Income tax paid BT ATIEH (362) (857)
Interest paid EASHLE (9) -
Net cash used in operating RETHMARSFR
activities (2,378) (3,924)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 %

2T —F+-A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
B -F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZRD
Interest received B HEFHLE 179 185
Acquisition of property, plant and B ~ BB At
equipment (1,951) (1,741)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HE¥E « BERKZFEZ
plant and equipment FriSR0R 97 -
Development costs paid EASTFEERAR (380) (340)
Acquisition of investment in an WHER —EE AR ZIRE
associate - (40)
Net cash used in investing REZBFFAREFE
activities (2,055) (1,936)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment for lease liabilities HEAREENK (1,467) (1,107)
Advance from an associate i lNS B 101 -
Net cash used in financing RMEEBTARE R
activities (1,366) (1,107)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRREEBYMRDFHE
equivalents (5,799) (6,967)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe S >HERELZEY
beginning of the year 41,944 48,793
Effect on exchange rate changes EXEnE 62 118
Cash and cash equivalents atthe HRZBEERBELEEY -
end of the year, represented by (SR TEHBRES
bank balances and cash 36,207 41,944
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ—T-—F+-A=+—HILtFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 3
August 2017 and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 December 2018. The Company
is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang Shuguang and
Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who act in concert and hold
equity interests in the Company indirectly through
Crystal Grant Limited (wholly owned by Mr. Zhang
Shuguang), a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and Ever
Charming Inc. (wholly owned by Mr. Chang Yim
Yang), a limited liability company incorporated
in the BVI, respectively. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in research
and development, manufacture, marketing and sale
of biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and rounded to the nearest thousand
unless otherwise stated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2020 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are effective from the
current year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect
financial reporting when a company replaces the
old interest rate benchmark with an alternative
benchmark rate as a result of the interest
rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). The
amendments complement those issued in November
2019 and relate to:

e changes to contractual cash flows — a company
will not have to derecognise or adjust the
carrying amount of financial instruments for
changes required by the Reform, but will instead
update the effective interest rate to reflect the
change to the alternative benchmark rate;

e hedge accounting — a company will not have to
discontinue its hedge accounting solely because
it makes changes required by the Reform, if the
hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria;
and

e disclosures — a company will be required to
disclose information about new risks arising
from the reform and how it manages the
transition to alternative benchmark rates.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is historical
cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position
which is presented within these notes, the investment
in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment loss.
The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is
higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and/or receivable.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
join control of those policies.

The Group’s investment in associate is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment or a portion thereof is classified
as held for sale. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share of the investee’'s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses when the Group’s share of
losses of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying
amount of its interest in the investee, which includes
any long term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group's net investment in the investee.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point
in time upon i) delivering the goods to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or ii) the customers collect the goods
directly from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s gross carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z =

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease
payments associated with these leases are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise
to a separate component are considered to be part
of the total consideration that is allocated to the
separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FES:EEE)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

() any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation
is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of
the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by
the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option — in which case depreciation
is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Factories and office premises 2 years to 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability comprise the following payments
for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the
lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term
or the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original
discount rate when there is a change in the residual
value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease
payments or the future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or a rate (other than
floating interest rate). In case of a change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in floating
interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease
liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is
a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount
of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate
lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(@) the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the
lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment
to the right-of-use asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributable
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z =

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group'’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial assets). All of
the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign
exchange translation reserve in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares.
The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
reserve within equity.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the vesting conditions
are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which
the entitlement of relevant employees to the
award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction
of any non-market vesting conditions (“vesting
date”). During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest ultimately
is reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior periods is charged/
credited to profit or loss for the year of review, with
a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within
equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits or losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do
not ultimately vest, except for awards that are
conditional on a market condition or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of
whether or not the market condition or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all non-market
vesting conditions are satisfied. Where an equity-
settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award as described
above.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets over their estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally
generated intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
When the asset is available for use, amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. For intangible assets yet to be available for
use, they are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible
assets is estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z =

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, net of bank overdrafts (if any).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, cost of conversion
and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first in, first out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period of the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z =

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measure at
fair value through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, other receivables and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group'’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk

type).

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
assessment;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default (i.e. no default history); ii) the
counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the risk
type (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk type)
by considering:

e  Past-due status; and
e Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accrued charges, lease liabilities and
amount due to an associate are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the holding
company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to Group’s executive
directors for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The Group adopted HKFRS 9 and the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
ECL of trade receivables based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns, after considering internal credit
assessment of trade debtors and past due status
of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information. In addition, trade
receivables that are credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the
credit impaired trade receivables is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows with
the consideration of expected future losses. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of
trade receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

The management determines whether the Group'’s
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are impaired when an indication
of impairment exists or when annual impairment
testing is required. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amounts of the property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets which is equal to the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. Estimating the
value in use requires the management to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged
to profit or loss.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of
inventories at the end of each reporting period and
makes allowance for inventories that are identified
as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable.
The management carries out the inventory review on
a product-by-product basis and makes allowances or
reversal allowance by reference to the latest market
prices and current market conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions Beyond
30 June 20211

Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Annual Improvementsto  2018-2020 Cycle®
HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction®

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2021

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023

@ The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate
that the adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs in
future periods will have any material impact on the
financial performance and financial position of the
Group.
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(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 %

REVENUE 3. W
(a) BEEEHWESE

with customers

e P ERR M

E_E-—Ft+-A=t1t—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TFT AREFT
Type of goods EmEhl
Sales of biological reagents: SHE A B
Male fertility in-vitro diagnostic SHETEEINDE
(“IVD") reagents (Fegsrr ) A 17,561 15,952
Parasite antibody detection reagents 274 & 551 8] 5 A 3,494 2,900
Epstein-Barr Virus antibody EBR SR Bl
detection reagents 991 978
Sales of auxiliary reproductive supplies $H&E# B4 B A MmN
and equipment B 1,282 1,361
Sales of healthcare products and HERREmRRERD
supplements 2,799 776
26,127 21,967
Type of customers EFEER
Distributors PaN=li<] 14,578 12,160
Non-distributors D 11,549 9,807
26,127 21,967

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z =

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells biological reagents, auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment and
healthcare products and supplements to
distributors and non-distributors mainly
comprising hospitals and medical institutions in
the PRC. Contracts with the Group’s customers
are mainly short term and fixed price contracts.
The revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods
are i) delivered to the customers’ warehouse
on which the customers obtain control of the
goods or ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.
Following delivery, the customers have full
discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, have the primary
responsibility when selling the goods and bear
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods.

In general, the Group will request deposits from
the customers before the goods are delivered
and the amount of deposits requested varies
amongst different contracts. For certain long-
term customers, the Group will deliver the
goods without requesting deposits and allow
a credit period from 30 to 180 days (2020: 30
to 180 days) to these customers and there is
no credit period granted to other customers.
The customers have neither rights of return nor
rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods
once they are accepted by the customers upon
delivery.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

The total amount of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations as at 31 December
2021 are approximately RMB2,171,000 (2020:
approximately RMB2,143,000) and the expected
timing of recognising revenue is within one year.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, being identified as the chief operating
decision makers (the “CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

As a result of the business diversification and
identification of healthcare products and
supplements business as a reportable segment
during the year ended 31 December 2021, prior
year segment information has been represented
accordingly to reflect the newly reportable segment
as a separate segment. Based on the Group's
internal information reporting purpose, the directors
of the Company have determined that there are two
reportable operating segments which are set out
below:

1) Biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment; and

2) Healthcare products and supplements

Wz (&)

(b) EFEHNHNBHEREE)

R-B-_—F+-A=+—R85HHk
EFRARBITRAEANRZER
REEABAREE2171,0000(=F
ZFF AR 2,143,0005T) K
TEHAU SR TSRS R A — R o

2 EBE R

RERD BN BEEF EMAEART
HITES(NETELERRA(TEES
BREAN])) MENERZERARN
SR ENERKIRBRDL - BEAS
B 2% B - MESEREERE
AFTERIEEDRRE HarE -

HEzE—T-_—F+_HA=+—HLTF
EEBZ T b B R RIGRERE MR
MEBHNABAIZHRDE - TFHEE
KIEEEY AR FTIE 0] 2 3o 3P17E
REBDEH - REASEAITERZ2H
BR) ARRESEEEFEMERNZ
WICEDER - HIAT -

1) EYERBINREBERBRMRE
&

2) REEERLRES
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 2.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment, and healthcare products
and supplements.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation
and assessment of segment performance, represent
the profit earned or loss incurred by each segment
without allocation of certain other gains and losses,
administrative expenses, finance costs incurred by
head office, equity-settled share-based payment
expenses, income tax expense and share result of an
associate.

All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than unallocated corporate assets which are mainly
certain of bank balances, other receivables and right-
of-use assets located in Hong Kong as these assets
are managed on a corporate basis.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate liabilities which are
mainly certain of other payables and lease liabilities
located in Hong Kong as these assets are managed
on a corporate basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

and results by reportable operating segments:

Year ended 31 December 2021

4. FEHERE)
DK - KK - BEEREEE)

AT BIRA] 2 &2 D AMEH A EE
Yoas M SRAEDHT

BE-ZE-_—F+-A=+—HLFE

Biological
reagents

and auxiliary
reproductive
supplies and

Healthcare
products and

equipment supplements Total
EYRE R
HEEEAm BEEMR
& RER #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FIT AR®TFT AREFT
Segment revenue o EbER 23,328 2,799 26,127
Segment results DEPER 2,873 (3,084) (211)
Unallocated head office and K5 BAEW AN E
corporate income and R 2 aA
expenses: RFA -
Other gains and losses HAh e & &8 (130)
Administrative expenses TR (3,539)
Finance costs BEK A (23)
Loss before tax BRA AT E 1R (3,903)
Income tax expense FriS iR (317)
Loss for the year FABE (4,220)
FEF L Y EEEIE R R A A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;

EE-—F+-A=1+—HLFE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEERE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities oIS - EE EEREEE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020 (Restated) HEZZ-_TFF+-_A=1+—HILEFE
(% E5))
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
supplies and  products and
equipment  supplements Total
AERIE K
WBEERGE HBEEMK
&L REEG faEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFIT AREFT AREFIT
Segment revenue B E 21,191 776 21,967
Segment results DEELE (607) (2,812) (3,419)
Unallocated head office and KB AN E
corporate income and K 23 aJHA
expenses: RE% -
Other gains and losses HAb Wz & &5 18 (562)
Administrative expenses T (4,647)
Equity-settled share-based ARRIE#E S 2 IR 17
payment expenses EMN A (2,660)
Finance costs BLE R (44)
Share result of an associate ~ DEEEE QA4S (40)
Loss before tax BRAX AT EE (11,372)
Income tax expense FriSH R 2 (255)
Loss for the year FHNEHE (11,627)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBmRAE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

4. FEHERE)
DK - KK - BEEREEE)

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

TRAEAEERER ZHMEED AT
MEERBEDN

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable operating segments:

Year ended 31 December 2021 BE_Z_—HF+-A=1+—HILEE

Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
supplies and  products and
equipment  supplements  Unallocated Total
EEE K
HEHEERR BREERKR
T REm ROE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ABMTFT ARMTFT AR®F
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ~ AI2H/AHEE 62,606 3,504 950 67,060
Liabilities a2
Reportable segment liabilities A 23k/ P& E 4,219 3,268 1,868 9,355
Other information HiEH
Depreciation on property, 9% * BEX
plant and equipment REmE 1,375 48 72 1,495
Depreciation on right-of-use (BB ENE
assets 659 - 534 1,193
Amortisation on intangible /& i
assets 261 - - 261
Provision for impairment B S EUFBRE
losses on trade EREEETE
receivables, net 637 - - 637
Additions in property, plant ~ #1% + BE KRR E
and equipment NE 3,030 - - 3,030
Additions in right-of-use ~ FREEEARE
assets 425 - - 425
Additions in intangible assets EFAERE 380 - - 380
Write-off of inventories FE&H - 190 - 190

FHEAYEEIRIR SR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 17/8)



For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. FEERE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities oIS - XEE EEREEE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020 (Restated) HE_ 2 ZF+_-_A=+—RHILFE
(#e&E7)
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
suppliesand  products and
equipment  supplements Unallocated Total
A R
BYEERD BERERR
B4 tRiEm AP @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEETL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT

Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ~ AI2H/DHEE 61,549 3,714 7,438 72,701
Liabilities =k
Reportable segment liabilities A 27 & & 8,765 - 2,077 10,842
Other information HipEH
Depreciation on property, ~ #1% * R X

plant and equipment RAETE 1,624 29 195 1,848
Depreciation on right-of-use FFEBENE

assets 463 - 553 1,016
Amortisation on intangible /& E# i

assets 330 = - 330

Provision for impairment %1% « R KRB
losses on property, plant  JR{ERIEEE

equipment 2,556 = = 2,556
Provision for impairment B SRUWFERE

losses on trade EREEETE

receivables, net 787 = - 787
(Reversal of) impairment Htt KT IRRE

losses on other ER(ER)FE

receivables, net (7) = - (7)
Write-off of property, plant ~ #i#% K&

and equipment By 33 - - 33
Additions in property, plant 1% - BiE &R1E

and equipment HE 1,658 244 69 1,971
Additions in right-of-use ~ {FREAERE

assets 1,612 = 849 2,461
Additions in intangible assets EFEERE 340 . - 340
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—ZT=—F+=-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group's revenue from
external customers which are based on the location
of goods delivered.

DEER(E)
i &

TRIFJIZERINNERE D 2 ANE
BISNERE P M 2 I E FY o

2021 2020
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ANR¥T T AREFor

Revenue from external customers: INERR E M
The PRC H 23,328 21,191
Hong Kong B 2,759 776
Canada nExX 40 -
26,127 21,967

No geographical segment information of the Group's
non-current assets is presented as the Group’s non-
current assets (except for a leased office premises
and a motor vehicle with total carrying amount of
approximately RMB689,000 (2020: approximately
RMB1,000,000) as presented in right-of-use assets
which are located in Hong Kong) are mainly located
in the PRC by physical location of assets.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers (including entities under
common control) individually accounting for 10% or
more of the Group's total revenue are as follows:

AR EEEMNAMEMNESI D ASE 2 IE
MBEE(RUREENFEREEES
5|z BARTEE XY A AR #689,0007T(=
FE-FF - AR 1,000,000T) 2
MERANYERTEAIN) EEMRF
Bl W EZY|AEBIERBEE M
AEER -

EREREFNER

BEBEAEBEBKZFR10% A FHEF
(BRELRZEHER)NFBOT

2021 2020
—B- - —E-ETHF
RMB000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
Biological reagents and auxiliary EYRIB RN ER
reproductive supplies and equipment Fm k&
Customer A EFA 2,680 2,462

R4 Y B Z1 R B PR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

5. OTHER INCOME 5. HfblkA

2021 2020
- —E-FF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TFr AREFT
Bank interest income RITABIA 179 185
Government grants (Note) BASH#Bh (1 7E) 537 441
Sundry income WA 59 24
775 650

Note: Wiz

In the opinion of the management of the Group, there
was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the

government grants.

6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

REKIGIF AT ©

6. HitmRER

AEEERERA  UEEBNHHBERZ

2021 2020

—B-—F —TEF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AEB¥T T AR®TF

Gain on lease modification HEBFT e - 1"
Foreign exchange losses, net e 3 5 18 58 (259) (1,073)
(259) (1,062)
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LOSS BEFORE TAX
This is stated after charging:

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=-Z—

7. BRBiRIESE
T AEFORR N HIRIR

—F+-A=t+—HILEFE

2021 2020
—B- - —E-FTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARETT

Finance costs S =do®:N

Interest on bank overdrafts RITHEZ ZH B 9 =

Interest on lease liabilities HEBRZHE 93 74

102 74

Staff costs, including directors’ ETRA  BFEES

remuneration i
Directors’ emoluments (Note 8) EEHM(H78) 2,453 3,844
Other staff costs: HAth 8 TRCA -
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e BALREM
eyl 9,022 8,177
Contributions to defined JE RN B
contribution plans (Note (i) (K1z20)) 1,701 701
Equity-settled share-based AR #EE 2 AR 17
payment expenses AT RFE - 1,024
13,176 13,746

Other items Hihg g

Auditor’s remuneration ZEEN B & 579 625

Amortisation of intangible assets mEESH

(included in cost of sales) (BFEHEA) 261 330
Cost of inventories (Note (i) FE A (Ha2i) 9,671 7,249
Depreciation of property, plant and 7 Y L

equipment e 1,495 1,848
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,193 1,016
Other rental and related expenses — HiHERBEMAS —

short-term leases EEEE 81 42
Write-off of property, plant and ME - B K&

equipment % 3H - 33
Write-off of inventories (included in FEZIE(BEHEE R

selling and distribution expenses) DHHFX) 190 —

Notes: Btat -

(i)  During the period from February 2020 to December () BZZ=ZF_ABRE-ZT-_TFA+=
2020, the relevant PRC government authorities has AR - R EAEEBUTH#IEE AEFR
given certain temporary reliefs to entities incorporated B s AN 7 9 BE fR A S TERRERUE -
in the PRC to exempt from payment of certain W ER RN — EH A B RERR
amount of levies on the social security insurance. -

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 7.
Notes: (Continued)

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, cost of
inventories included approximately RMB3,326,000
(2020: approximately RMB2,962,000) relating to the
aggregate amount of certain staff costs, amortisation,
depreciation and other rental and related expenses,
which were included in the respective amounts as
disclosed above.

8. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

BRELAIE IR (&)

Hiat - (&)

(i) Hz—_ZE-_—F+_-_HA=+—HItHF
B FERABEERETEIAA
B TEREMHEERABRES A
A4 A R3,326,0007T ( = E - FF -
PN B2 962 0005T) » BEF A X
EMEESE -

EERTETBRAEHFMURES
B = ¥R 82 5

(a) EBERFETHAEHM

Date of appointment (resignation)

Name

4

Position

B

as the director of the Company

EZER(RE)ARRESZAM

Mr. Zhang Shuguang
REENFAE

Mr. Zhang Chunguang
RELTE

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael
BB RNE

Mr. He Jiaming
BEL

Mr. Chan Kin Sang
[ da e

Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow

e

Mr. Kwok Chi Shing
BEMEE

Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
EEThE

Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
[E B 5
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Executive director and chairman of
the Board of Directors

HOIEEREZTLER

Executive director and chief executive officer
(Chief Executive)

BOTESRERATE (TTHER)

Executive director and chief financial officer

BTESRERMBE
Executive director and business
development director

BIESREABERES

Independent non-executive director

BAUFRTES
Independent non-executive director

BUFNTES

Independent non-executive director
BUFHTESR
Independent non-executive director
BUFHTES

Independent non-executive director

BAFNTES

3 August 2017
—2—t5/\A=H
3 August 2017
—Z—+%/\A=H

3 August 2017
—F—F/\AZH

14 January 2020
“Z-TE-ATHA

26 November 2018
“T-\F+—HA=+"H

26 November 2018
(resigned on 16 December 2020)
- \E+—A=1"H
(ZE-ZEFE+-A+ BEL)

26 November 2018
(resigned on 1 September 2020)
“E-\Ft+—RZ1H
(ZZ-ZFNA—REE)

1 September 2020
“EEFNA-A

16 December 2020
“ZT-TF+-RA+H



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBmRAE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EENFIETHAEFMLUERAER

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BeHESHMZ)

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHAEEFMZ)
(Continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for BIEEA LR REB D REG
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable BENFRNESERLEBITRAR
Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies AT

Ordinance, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—Z2-_-F+=-A=+—HL
FE
Equity-settled  Contributions
Salaries share-based  to defined
Directors' and other  Discretionary payment  contribution
fees benefits bonuses expenses plans Total
HREES
#eR Rip £ TR
E2he EftfRH MsTA i sHEIfR h

RMB'000 RMB'000 RIVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRFL  ARNMFr  ARRTx  ABRFr  ARRTr  ARRTx

Executive directors HiTEZ

Mr. Zhang Shuguang RERTE - 246 25 - 62 3
Mr.Zhang Chunguang ~ RAER T4 - 21 60 - 68 399
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ~ BEE%A - 97 3 - 27 1027
Mr. He Jiaming O ks - 397 3 - 15 445

- 1,881 151 - n 2204

Independent non- BUFHTEE

executive directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang RRErE 8 - - - - 8
Mr. Cheng Faat Tng Gary  B% T %4 83 - - - - 8
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph  EIEIB %4 8 - - - - 8
249 - - - - 249
249 1,881 151 - 17 2,453

FHEAYEEIRIR SR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEFMURTER

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEFHEEHMZ)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHRAEEHME)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-_ZE-_FEF+_-_A=+—HIt
FE
Equitysettled  Contributions
Salaries share-based to defined
Directors' andother  Discretionary payment  contribution
fees benefits bonuses expenses plans Total
WREES 2
FER RIDER TR
EE ik Hirigh WAL D5 ARl st

RMBOOD  RMBOOD  AMBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO0O
ARRTL  ARRTT  ARETL  ARRTT  ARETL  ARETT

Executive directors HiEE

Mr. Zhang Shuguang REREE - 217 27 409 3 676
Mr.Zhang Chunguang ~ FAELSEAE - 250 40 409 28 77
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ~ EEE 4 - 812 36 409 26 1,283
Mr. He Jiaming fEALE - 429 36 409 16 890

- 1,708 139 1,636 9 3,576

Independent non- BUAHTEE

executive directors

Mr. Chan Kin Sang Rt f4 89 - - - - 89
Dr. Yeung David Wai Chow BB 8 - - - - 85
Mr. Kwok Chi Shing FERRE 56 - - - - 56
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary ~ BT %% 34 = - = - 34
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph BB & 4 - - - - 4

268 - - - - 268

268 1,708 139 1,636 93 3844
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang’s emoluments disclosed
above included those for services rendered by
him as chief executive officer during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

Discretionary bonuses are determined based on
the results of the Group during both years.

During the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

EERFTETHRAEFMURER
REFESHMNE)

(a) EBRFETHRAEEHM(E)

B ENRE R CEZEH NS
EREZEZE—_E-_—FR_ZT-FF
+—A=+—BHI-FEETTHRA
F TR AR TS HOFT BN ©

BT EEHHAEERARA]
KASBERER ) E AR AR
BMER - B IFMITESS
MR RERETARRESMIEMR
F AR5 T 215 o

REZMEFE - BBEATIREAR
SEXBET -

HE_S-_—FR-_ZT-_TF+=
A=Z+—RHLEFE  ~AEEHES
NEHFHFARRESIEBMNALRE
B R INAREE R 2 B kB
HE NZMEFEREZESENE
ZITHBABRNEXRERETMH
B ZBE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

ReFESHMNE)

(b) EEREHEES

EERFTETHRAEHFMURER

The five highest paid employees of the Group BHE_T-_—F+A=+—HI

for the year ended 31 December 2021 included FE - AEELA
three (2020: four) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out above. Details of the

remuneration of the remaining two (2020: ﬁﬁ%( FE_FTF -

one) highest paid employees who are neither a
director of the Company nor chief executive of

the Group are as follows:

= Ry—= =

BX 1= 557
_%(_ ToFTF  MF)ES -
Z%ﬁ@ﬂﬁl EHEN EX - FgR

EEBE
573

—& )RR

AERTFAREERTHAER
REFEE ZHMFIRNT -

2021 2020

—E--F ZEZFF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥FT ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e REMER 893 643

Discretionary bonuses @’J %?E 75 45

Contributions to defined B GBI

contribution plans 45 25
Equity-settled share-based AR & E 2 AR (0 E it

payment expenses B - 205

1,013 918

The number of these non-director individuals
whose emoluments fell within the following
emoluments band is as follows:

H N F T 515 B 8 B 9 5% 5 5F
EFEATEHELT

Number of individuals

A"
2021 2020
:g:-qﬁ —?—7 E'E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z21,000,000/87T 2 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

8. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to any of these highest paid non-director
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under
which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EERFTETHRAEFMURER
REFESHMNE)

(b) EEREHER(E)

BHE_ZT-_—FR-_ZT-_TF+—
A=+—HLFE  TAEEREX
NEHEMTEANZEReSTHFEEA
TEAMAREB SR IMARER
BeETRBERFEE HEZT
I ERZTETF+HA=T—
HIEFE  BECAZERSHIE
EZATRBEAZERESRE
WEEFAME -

9. FEBiIRAx

2021 2020
—E-—F e 23
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT
Current tax ENEAFE 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax — A (S SEFTS R —
current year REEZ 317 255

The Company and the subsidiaries incorporated
in the BVI are tax-exempted. Entity established in
the PRC is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax
at a statutory rate of 25%. Since the Group’s PRC
subsidiary, Shenzhen Huakang is recognised as “New
and High Technology Enterprise” and therefore
is entitled to a concessional tax rate of 15%. The
entitlement of this tax benefit is subject to renewal
by respective tax bureau in the PRC every three years.
The latest approval for Shenzhen Huakang enjoying
this tax benefit was obtained in December 2020 for
the three years ending 31 December 2023.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group had no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

REBREZEE MR AR T &M
BRARHER - RAPBIKY 2 BEEAER
B ZE RIS B A BB R 25% A R
1B - HRASRENFRENB AR FRYIE
RE A aFEitsE] AR
15%MEERFE - ZIEHRBEBRERA
B=FREETEHNBRER - RYIE
RRIOIELBHEREH  HHAZT
“EFEFTA BREAREE_T ==
F+-_A=+—HI=F-

HAREBRNEE—_E-_—FER_T=
TE+ A=+ HIEFETEESRE
EERERTRF - I EREBFEH
TEH Bt o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FREHBX(#)
Reconciliation of income tax expense FriS Bl X ¥ iR
2021 2020
:_ii: - ﬂE — ? = E'E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FiT ARETT
Loss before tax B AIE 1B (3,903) (11,372)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 25% #Z3E FF{ & 25%
(2020: 25%) (ZFE_FF :25%)
STERATEH (976) (2,843)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ANAT 07 FE 2 B9 F7 75
tax purpose 2 1,771 3,574
Additional tax deduction on research and #1355 3% Mt hnfH 008
development expenses (301) (311)
Effect of tax concession granted EEBEEENTE (177) (195)
Others HAth - 30
Income tax expense for the year FARFSHRAX 317 255
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

Under the relevant tax law and implementation
regulations in the PRC, withholding income tax
is applicable to dividend earned and payable to
investors that are “non-tax resident enterprises” in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiary since 1
January 2008, which do not have an establishment
or place of business in the PRC, or which have
such establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with
the establishment or place of business, to the extent
such interest or dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends paid
by the PRC subsidiary to offshore group entities
shall be subject to the withholding tax at 10%
or a lower treaty rate. The Group is subject to
withholding tax in relation to the dividend paid by
the PRC subsidiary. As the Company has decided
not to declare any dividends from undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiary amounting to
approximately RMB44,975,000 (2020: approximately
RMB42,676,000) as at 31 December 2021 to the
immediate holding company of the PRC subsidiary in
the foreseeable future, no deferred tax liability has
been recognised in respect of these undistributed
earnings during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as there were
no significant temporary differences arising during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 or at
the end of each reporting period.

FRrEHm (&)
RERIELER AR E

BB HBEREREEERD - 558
FRERRAEBIEAN - BT N\F—
A — B Est A BIRT B A 5 s ) A
B E A Tl IER R R 5 | (W IE
FERBIR Y Sk E R B e S B - 3X
T AR B X 37 Bk R A e S BB AR LA
B R B R B E TR E) R
BEMRE - BEMIEIMER - £5
BERT  FENBARFARIINERE
YRR IR 10% K E R T
REMTEIN - AEBARTEBA
SRR B EANTER c R = —
F+=-_A=1+—H BAREARRER
AEEARETEHPEMBRFR
DEAF L AR 44,975,00070( ==
—FF AR K42 676,0005T) A
BB A RMEZEERATEIREMEK
B EAhEE—S-_—FRK-_ZT-TF
F+TZRA=FT—HLFE ' WRFZER
DB ERELERIBAE -

HREBE-_E - —FR -2 -_FF+=
A=+ —HULFEXSRERRTES
AERUHEEER ARSI ERRITE
FHRIEE R AR -

FEFEA Y BB IR A PR 2 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z ——

10. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following

FH-A=+—HILFE

10. BRRE#E

ARRHEBARBIEERERNERNE
TIERAT &R

data:
2021 2020
—EB-—&F e 3
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARMFT ARETT
Loss: 18 -
Loss for the year attributable to owners  FiEtE G EANEIE
of the Company for the purpose of mEARRIHEAR A
basic loss per share JEMRFREE (4,220) (11,627)
Number of shares: RGOEHA :
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ #tatESREAEE
shares of the Company in issue for MEARNARISET
the purpose of basic loss per share TRARNEETFHE 400,000,000 400,000,000

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per
share as the effect of potential ordinary shares is
anti-dilutive during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

11. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, nor has any dividend been proposed since the
end of each reporting period.
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BHE-_T-_—FK-FT-_FF+=-H
=+—HIEFE AREBERAEBREE
RESFHE - HEREESEESRE
REEMR o

2
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 %

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

E_E-—Ft+-A=t1t—HIFE

12. Y15 - BMERRE

Leasehold Plant and Office Motor  Construction
improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles  in-progress Total
HENEEE HEREE  BORE RE EREIR gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETT AREFT  AEEFT  \EEFT AREfT AREER
CosT A&
At 1 January 2020 R=2-FF-F-H 4102 8,410 1323 998 49 14,882
Additions AE 704 - 316 554 397 1971
Transfer from construction-in- ~ BARTRER
progress 16 - - - (16) -
Written-off 4 - - = . (33) (33)
At 31 December 2020 and RN-E-FF
1 January 2021 tZA=t-Rk
“F--%-f-H 4,822 8,410 1,639 1,552 397 16,320
Additions AE 743 1,309 914 64 - 3,030
Transfer from construction-in- BB IIREE
progress - 397 - - (397) -
Disposal hE - 97) - - - 97
Fichange realignment [E5 A% - - - ) - (6)
At 31 December 2021 R-B--%&
tZB=1+-H 5,565 10,019 2,553 1,610 - 19,747
ACCUMULDATED RTERAESSE
DEPERCIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2020 R_F_F5-F-A 1,316 2882 493 509 - 5,160
Provided for the year REERE 627 954 176 91 - 1,848
Impairment loss AEER - 2,556 - - - 2,556
At 31 December 2020 and R-E-%FF
1 January 2021 TZA=+-8k
“2--f-f-H 1943 6,352 669 600 - 9,564
Provided for the year TERER 595 526 m 151 - 1,495
Bichange realignment [E 3 5 - - . (1) 5 )
At 31 December 2021 R-B--F
+=A=1-A 2,538 6,878 892 750 - 11,058
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-%
+ZB=1+-H 3,021 3141 1,661 860 - 8,689
At 31 December 2020 i 22
+-A=1-H 28719 2,058 970 952 397 7,256

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
following periods:
Leasehold improvements 5 years to 10 years or
over the lease period
5 years to 10 years

5 years to 10 years

5 years

Plant and machinery
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

During the year ended 31 December 2020, given
that one of plant and machinery with carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,556,000 which has
been idled for a prolonged period of time and the
recoverable amount from the use or sale of the asset
has significantly declined below its carrying amount.
Accordingly, the carrying value of the asset has been
reduced by approximately RMB2,556,000 to reflect
this impairment loss. No reversal of or additional
provision of impairment loss was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

12. Y15 - BMERREE)

Btz -~ BB KREEREB TR TS
FABAVEITE

HEWMERE RE+E5

REEHR
B 5 R it RE+E
NG RE+E
B pak:=

REBEE_T-_TF+_A=+—HIF
B EREREEYN A ARK2556,000
TTZMERERERE —BERH - B1E
FAKHEZEEN T RE 2 FEAEE
REREE - Bt - ZEEMNKRAEE
B4 AR ¥ 2,556,0007T © M R
ZREERE B2 _ZT-_—F+_-A
=+—HLFE  BERRBEEIESE
HME R o

LEASES 13. &
At At
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
R-B-—F RIZT-ZTF
+=A +=A
=t+-—H =t—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ABR¥Fr ARMTFor
Right-of-use assets (Note (a)) EREEENZE) 1,664 2,432

Lease liabilities (Note (b)) HEEBWHZD)

Current BN EH 1,019 1,406
Non-current JERNER 665 1,236
1,684 2,642
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. HE#E)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEE
Factories
Motor and office
vehicles premises Total
ITRR
"E WAEYE Hact
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AREFT ARETT
Reconciliation of carrying  RREI{E¥ER
amount - year ended -BE-Z-EF
31 December 2020 +ZA=1+—-HLEE
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-FT5—-H—H 542 809 1,351
Addition NE = 2,461 2,461
Lease modification MEEE] - (364) (364)
Depreciation e (108) (908) (1,016)
At 31 December 2020 RZZT-TF
+=A=1—H 434 1,998 2,432
Reconciliation of carrying ~ BREIE %R
amount - year ended -BE-E-_-%#
31 December 2021 +tZA=1+—-HLEE
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—Hf—H 434 1,998 2,432
Addition NE = 425 425
Depreciation e (108) (1,085) (1,193)
At 31 December 2021 ANZTE-—F
+=-A=+—AH 326 1,338 1,664
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EF
+=A=+-H
Cost AR 542 3,171 3,713
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (108) (1,173) (1,281)
434 1,998 2,432
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-f%
+=A=+-H
Cost AR 542 3,596 4,138
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (216) (2,258) (2,474)
326 1,338 1,664

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #;

13. LEASES (Continued)

E-E - —F+—A=+—HItFE

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

13. HE(#)

The Group leases various motor vehicles,
factories and office premises for its operation.
The lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 2 to 5 years (2020: 2 to 5 years).

The total cash outflow for leases (including
other rental and related expenses) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were approximately
RMB1,548,000 (2020: approximately

RMB1,149,000).

Certain leases impose a restriction that, unless
the approval is obtained from the lessor, the
right-of-use asset can only be used by the
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling
or pledging the underlying assets.

(b) Commitments and present value of lease

liabilities

() EREEEE)

AEEHESETRE - BEEHA
YIHERRESE - HESHNBEEI
BEFR_hEFE(—E_FTF :
—EFHEF)

Bz —4F+-_HA=+—H8H1t
FE - HEMNBESREAE(BIE
EMBEERBEARY ) NAEARE
1,548,000 ( —FE—FF : AR
#1,149,0007T) °

FTHEE®R AR - RIFES
HEA#E - BRIEREEEER
HAEEFER  WAREIEAREESY
SHEMEREE -

(b) HEEBNAERRE

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments
HEMR HENTMWRE
At 31 December At 31 December
Rt=A=t-H Rt=ZRA=1+-H
2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--F  ZTZTF  ZE--F  ZTCETH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEEFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Amounts payable: FEROA
Within 1 year —FR 1,073 1,484 1,019 1,406
More than 1 year but within B —%
2 years BORME 680 692 665 647
More than 2 years but within BB F
5 years BIRBE - 604 - 589
1,753 2,780 1,684 2,642
Less: future finance charges  J& : KRBT E A (69) (138)
1,684 2,642
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 %

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. B EE

-

—F+=A=+—BLEE

Development costs

BR A
RMB'000
AREF T
cosT e
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE_ZEF—H—H 4,321
Additions INE 340
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R-ZE_ZTF+_HA=+—H
;rE=—F—-——%F—H—H 4,661
Additions NE 380
At 31 December 2021 HN-EBE-—F+=-B=+—H 5,041
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION E- 5
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE_ZEF—H—H 1,407
Provided for the year NEERE 330
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZ-Z_EF+_-_A=+—H
—E2-—F—H—H 1,737
Provided for the year INFE 261
At 31 December 2021 HR-EBE-—F+=-B=+—H 1,998
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—F+=-H=+—H 3,043
At 31 December 2020 RZZEZEF+—HA=+—H 2,924

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Development costs are internally generated at the
development phase and amortised on a straight-line
basis over 5 years. This asset is tested for impairment
where an indicator of impairment appears.

The carrying amounts of intangible assets yet to
be available for use at 31 December 2021 were
approximately RMB1,831,000 (2020: approximately
RMB2,495,000).

The Group carries out annual impairment test
for intangible assets yet to be available for use
by comparing their recoverable amounts to their
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets yet to
be available for use were assessed on the value in
use calculations using pre-tax cash flow projections
which is approved by management. The estimated
revenue and costs for each individual intangible
asset were based on management expectation.
Projected cash flows are discounted at a suitable pre-
tax discount rate to reflect the specific risks involved
over the forecasted period. At 31 December 2021
and 2020, the management is of the view that the
intangible assets yet to be available for use were not
impaired as their recoverable amounts exceed their
carrying amounts.
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4. B EE(E)

BRAARTINBEREBEABESE - IR
SFERLEREHE - EHRBETR
B RREEAETRERR

R-ZEZ—F+A=+—B#EKA
HREANBEFEERABENRBARE
1,831,000 (= FE=-FF - HARK
2,495,0007T) °

REEE BB RS HIR = R A
BIVEERNO S RERMEYSZSTE
WEEETFRERER -

mARAREAEEEEMN KB SRR
EZEREENEN G ERERAEEE
HOEMT AR S MIEA - ZIRERER
BEMGETHE R AEREEETEEH
FE - FHARSRENIREE HATALIR
RFARRIR - ARBRTEBIEARI AT R A
BRERE R-ZE-—FER_FT_ZTF
+ZA=+—H ERERBHARIH
FREFEETELRRE RESHE
A e B BEREE



For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

15. R—EBE AT NER

2021
—_E-—F
RMB’000
AR¥TFT

2020
—E-FF
RMB’000
AREFT

Share of net assets DMEBEFE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interests in
the following associate:

R-ZTE-_—F+_-_A=+—H K&HE
AT B & AR A R

Principal
place of Proportion of
business and Paid-up  value of issued
place of issued  capital held by
Name of associate incorporation capital the Company Principal activities
TREXME ARARMFERT
BENT AR REM AL i R BRRA BRABELS FEREBEH
Smartronic Limited (“Smartronic”)  Hong Kong HK$100,000 49%  Sales of healthcare
(2020: (Note) products and
HK$100,000) (2020: 49%) supplements
BRENERAR(TEREAN) BB 100,000/ 7T 49% HERFERK
(ZF-FF: (#:2)  REm
100,00087w)  (ZE-FF:
49%)
Note: Bt

On 3 June 2020, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with an independent third party to acquire
Smartronic with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to which
the Group and the independent third party held as to 49%
and 51%, respectively.

R-TZ-_TFEA=H ANEEEFTFE=
FRIS R R Fpas - AGEST E A3 RIEE 2
BRERIT - B AEBEBE=FH DR
B 49% [ 51% 2 BEHE -

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The associate is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
There are no capital commitment and contingent
liabilities in relation to Smartronic.

Relationship with associate

Smartronic is engaged in sales of healthcare products
and supplements in PRC and HK through the cross-
border e-commerce platforms and other platforms
and channels, which could allow the Group to
benefit from Smartronic’s operations.

Fair value of investment

Smartronic is not listed and there is no quoted
market price available for the investment.

Financial information of associate

Summarised financial information of the associate
of the Group is set out below, which represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purpose
including any differences in accounting policies and
fair value adjustments.
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s DR TR AR EAR RS M SRR
AR o BB I GERI 1 B B B A AE
KEREIE

AR N R B R

BBl NEBBEREFRAB AR
b F e MRENTERBBEFHER
FREmMMRER  SAEEREEEE
NEFEMH Xk o

REZRVE
RRERINW AR L B EREN T ISR

&

BENRZMBER

AREBBERF 2 MBERBAIT -
Higl 2 NRRBEBR BV RS LR R
B MRS - WEAREE 5
Rm ST BEMIFLFEE - BRERTEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBmRAE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15. R—REBE A TINER(Z)

2021 2020
—E-—% —E-THF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMTFr AREFT
Gross amounts B EE
Current assets MENEE 5,625 5,770
Non-current assets EMBEE - -
Current liabilities meaE (6,670) (6,182)
Non-current liabilities EmBAE - -
Net liabilities BEFHE (1,045) (412)
Included in above: SFALHIER ¢
Cash and cash equivalents He MReEEY 268 1,829
Reconciliation 218
Gross amount of net liabilities FAERE (1,045) (412)
Group'’s ownership interests and REB 2 B EER R
voting rights % E 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group'’s
ownership interests

KRB B RS L

fREE

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P ERAR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15. A—EBE QA TNERS(Z)

Period from

date of

Year ended acquisition to
31 December 31 December
2021 2020

HZ BUYERER

—E-—F FET-FTF

+=A +=A
=t+—H =t+—H
LFE LEHARE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARETT

Gross amounts B EE
Revenue e 3,423 1,392
Loss and total comprehensive expense F/HANEBERER

for the year/period 7 48 %E (640) (527)
Included in above: FFALMIER ¢
Interest expense FMERX (301) (94)

The Group's share of loss of the associate amounted
to approximately Nil (2020: RMB40,000) during the
year ended 31 December 2021. The unrecognised
share of loss of the associate for the year ended 31
December 2021 and cumulatively up to the end of
the reporting period amounted to approximately
RMB314,000 (2020: RMB218,000) and RMB532,000
(2020: RMB218,000), respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

16. INVENTORIES 16. F&
2021 2020
—E-—=F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFr AREFT
Raw materials JR A4k 1,890 1,634
Finished goods ZK o 2,320 1,132
4,210 2,766
TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. EZ WA
2021 2020
T _E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFrTr AREFTT
Trade receivables from third parties JEWE=RZE5
FEW IR 13,397 12,864
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEERE (3,998) (3,361)
9,399 9,503

In general, the Group will request deposits from
the customers before the goods are delivered and
the amount of deposits requested varies amongst
different contracts. For certain long-term customers,
the Group will deliver the goods without requesting
deposits and allow a credit period from 30 to 180
days (2020: 30 to 180 days) to these customers and
there is no credit period granted to other customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
(net of allowances for credit losses) presented based
on the dates of delivery of goods.

—mME - AREFERRERRTA
mERFWERZE - mAMMERKIZeEE
EAREHNmMEFER - piE TREAR
FmE  AEEHERTERZESHIBER
THZEEFPXNER  BRTZER
F302180K(=ZZE=-FF : 302180
X)NEES  mPEREARFEN
EEH - TV AZERR T BEHAZYA
B RUBFIE(HREEBEERE) R
DT ©

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

17. EZBWRIAE)

2021 2020
B —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT ARMTFIT

0-30 days 0E30K 2,274 2,051
31-90 days 31E90K 2,773 2,617
91-180 days 912180k 1,953 2,570
Over 181 days FBiE181K 2,399 2,265
9,399 9,503

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB8,259,000
(2020: approximately RMB7,829,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, approximately RMB3,754,000 (2020:
approximately RMB3,672,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by
considering the historical payment arrangement of
these trade receivables. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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18. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=-Z—

18. Mt EWRIA -

e MR RRME
—E+=A=t—HILEE

BERANRE

PREPAYMENTS
2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AERETFT AREFT
Other receivables H At & IR IE 2,329 825
Advance payment to suppliers TR R ER 1,077 2,732
Other prepaid expenses Ha B B 298 1,093
Rental and other deposits HekEMES 144 147
3,848 4,797

B R A RUGR IR E R A IR R &7
BB IRKRMTE3O0

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

19. RITERRBAE

SRITRBRE B BRI TER%
e P
B2 FITERRRLLT :

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances are carrying interest at prevailing
market rate at the end of each reporting period
and the bank balances and cash that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant group entities are as follows:

2021 2020

—EC—-F —E-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") B([Exl) 978 6,619
United State Dollars (“US$") Ex([%Erx]) 5,417 5,556
Canadian Dollars (“CAD$") meR(lmsxl) 73 54

ERENEBER

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z ——

19.

20.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, bank balances that
were placed with banks in the PRC amounted to
approximately RMB35,156,000 (2020: approximately
RMB29,715,000). Remittance of funds out of the
PRC is subject to the exchange controls imposed by
the PRC government.

The Group performed impairment assessment on
bank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant
and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is
provided for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

TRADE PAYABLES

In general, the Group will make advance payment to
suppliers before the materials are received. Some of
the suppliers may deliver the materials to the Group
without requesting advance payment and a credit
period ranged from 30 to 90 days (2020: 30 to 90
days) is granted by these suppliers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date:

FH-A=+—HILFE

19.

20.

RITRBRRRE(E)

RZE-—F+=-_A=+—H8 ' T
F¢lmﬁ”2ﬁﬁ*%%%AEM
35,156,000 C( ZFE=FF : WARK
29,715,0007T) - B EHPBEREAES
FI| iR BT B9 I 22 1) 28 T2 PR 1

RNEBMERITABEITREGTRE
HFFRITEHNNITEMEMTERYN - B
I HEZE - —FR - _FTF
A=+—RHItFE - $IEHREEEE
B o

B 5 ENRKIE

BT ASEESERSMERIREERS
TARIE © B EE ] EEFENRK
HIER TEMBIRA FAKE - WHEH
NFI0REOKR(ZF-FF : 30XkE
WOX)Z2ZEH - ERBZAHNES
FERRIERERIR DTN T -

2021 2020

RMB000 RMB’000

ARMTFT AREFT

0-30 days 0&30K 193 115
31-90 days 31290k 40 302
Over 90 days FE3EI0K 484 1,030
717 1,447
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E MWK

For the year ended 31 December 2021 %

2T —

FH-A=+—HILFE

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES 21. HfttFENFIER FESTE A
2021 2020
- —E-FF
RMB‘000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Other accrual and payables Eith T & A RER
RIE 1,465 1,403
Payables for purchase of property, plant ~ UEE¥% - BE &
and equipment RN IE 1,140 1,192
Salaries payables ENE® 1,790 1,366
4,395 3,961
Other payables and accrued charges that are not WIREBEEERIEEBECH
denominated in the functional currency of the N RIBRETERIT -
relevant group entities are as follows:
2021 2020
—EB--F _T_TH
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETFT AREFT
HK$ BT 1,697 1,186

ZEERAEYBEZERIRER A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. 51 =
2021 2020
B —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTT AREFIT
Contract liabilities regarding sales of HEEYRAE -

biological reagents, auxiliary reproductive  #Bh A & F S MR &

supplies and equipment and healthcare LA K f@ B2 2 fn 2 (R 2
products and supplements mZatBaE 2,171 2,143

When the Group receives a deposit before delivery
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
when the goods are i) delivered to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate. The
amount of deposits requested varies amongst
different contracts. The increase in contract liabilities
in the current year was mainly attributable to the
advance received from a customer arising from the
new healthcare products and supplements business.

The contract liabilities amounting to approximately
RMB2,143,000 and RMB292,000 as at 1 January
2021 and 2020 were recognised as revenue in profit
or loss for years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
respectively. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the contract liabilities as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 are expected to be recognised as
revenue within 12 months and therefore classified as
current liabilities.

Annual Report 2021 &%

HAKER RN EmATEEZE - Bl
BREHRERELEANEE BRI
HERXNERFPESEmEFENR
Edi)EFEKBAKE R ERNE R
(PRER)E - 77 AT RER M » PRESKIR
SHEATRANMBARA - KXEE
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24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P ERR M

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT 23

GRANTS

The Group received grants from the PRC government
authorities for funding of acquisitions of plant and
equipment for conducting research and development
of the biological reagents which benefits the society
as a whole. The relevant deferred income would be
amortised over periods ranging from 5 to 10 years
which represented the useful lives of the relevant
assets.

ETEWA — BUF B

AEEATEBF#EROmMEIIH
RS R i e i B LETTE M E
EIffE - WRNTAH S BENE - 5
BEIEWA RGPS E10F N - BNE R
BEMAIERFH -

2021 2020

—E_—F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HmEEOATAT

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 53 340
Current liabilities MEEE 15 45
68 385

AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

24, FEEBEE N TFRIE

BREMNFKASELER  RENMARE

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

25. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 25. EBIRBERIETE

204

The employees of Shenzhen Huakang are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the specified contributions.

The Group also participate the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority in Hong Kong. The Group’s
eligible employees are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The Group has followed the minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregated income with a cap
of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately RMB1,873,000 (2020: approximately
RMB794,000) for the year ended 31 December
2021, represents contributions payable to these
plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the plans.

As at 31 December 2021, contributions which had
not been paid over to the plans amounted to Nil
(2020: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting
on 13 January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The Share Option Scheme is a long-term incentive
scheme of the Company to reward its employees,
Directors and other eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high caliber
employees and other eligible participants who are
instrumental to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
shares option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue on the date which the Share Option
Scheme is approved, which is 40,000,000 shares
(“Scheme Limit”). The maximum number of shares
issued and issuable to each eligible person under the
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at proposed grant date. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

26. fBRAESHE

AABERERER-_T_ZF—A
T=BMRREIAE LBEBN—IBE
MREREWERETS ([ BRRES
Bl)) - BIRERTEI AR RMREZE
e B EREHES EZRHEMA
BERSEEHASEEL TR - FRH
PARSEREREBSEZEEE KEM
HAKERREAEREFEENSER
LEE o

EHITERBRERE S R ANEEE (A E
fh BB AR AT 813 HH 2 P B BB AR A i Al gk
fesE REITZRNBEERTBEBB
B EELNL EE HE BITRHEEN
10% - B40,000,000 f% B 15 ([ &t &I BR
) - REM+ =@ A HEREFEE
BRI T —ReERATZR
MEE  ZETFHBEBARANRERR
HEBZEBITROBE Z1% ° (£
E—IERHBH IR BRERER
RRRE RS LR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26. [BIRERTEI(&)

206

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to an
independent non-executive director or a substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the
granting of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share
options, subject to the acceptance by the grantees,
at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per share of the
Company to the eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme. The market price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant was HK$0.125 per share.
All of the share options are exercisable from the
date of acceptance by a grantee to 8 April 2030
(both days inclusive). Each of the grantees has paid
HK$1 to the Company on acceptance of the offer of
share option. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26. B ESTEI(Z)
The movement during the year and the share options FREYIN T —F+A=+—
outstanding as at 31 December 2021 were as B RARITEBERENERAT
follows:
Number of share options
BREHA
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
2021 the period the period the period 2021
RZB--f% RZB--%
Category of the grantees AR AR —-B-H RERRL RERT REREK +=A=t+-H
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note) ~ RE 4 (H:2) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunquang (Note) K& (AiE) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Note) B1EB &4 (#:#) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) nRREEWE) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) R8I Az) 9,504,000 - - (2,000,000) 7,504,000
Total b 25,504,000 - - (2,000,000) 23,504,000
The movement during the year and the share options FREHIN _T_TF+HA=+—
outstanding as at 31 December 2020 were as A RARITEBERENERAT
follows:
Number of share options
BRENE
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
2020 the period the period the period 2020
RZTEF RZBEF
Category of the grantees &% AR —A-H RERE REIRTT RBmRY  +=A=t-A
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note) ~ REN E4(H:2) - 4,000,000 - = 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunquang (Note) K& (At - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Note) EHEE %4 (#ii?) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) TEREEME) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) R8I Aiz) - 10,008,000 - (504,000) 9,504,000
Total b - 26,008,000 - (504,000) 25,504,000

FHEAYEEIRIR SR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 207
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Note:

The closing price of the shares immediately before the
date on which the options were granted during the year
ended 31 December 2020 is HK$0.125. The exercise price
is HK$0.125. The exercise period during which the options
may be exercised is the period from the date of acceptance
to 8 April 2030 (both days inclusive). The date of grant was
9 April 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
2,000,000 (2020: 504,000) share options granted
were forfeited upon the resignation of the grantees
as employee of the Group (“Resignation”). None of
the share options were exercised and such grantees
were no longer eligible to the Share Option Scheme
upon the Resignation.

All the existing share options of the Company are
vested upon granting.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, share
options were granted on 9 April 2020. The fair
values of share options determined at the date of
grant using the Binomial Option Pricing Model was
at HK$0.1125 per option, with the following key
inputs:

The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair values of share option:

Share price at the date of grant HK$0.125
Exercise price HK$0.125
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 103.1%
Dividend yield Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%
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27.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used
to estimate the fair value of the share options.
The value of the share options is subject to the
limitation of the Binomial Option Pricing Model and
a number of assumptions which are subjective and
difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, with
reference to the fair value of the share options
granted, the Group recognised approximately
HK$2,926,000 (equivalents to approximately
RMB2,660,000) as equity-settled share-based
payment expenses. The equity-settled share-based
payment expenses recognised in share option reserve
were transferred to accumulated profits or losses
upon forfeiture.

26. fBIRAESHEI(#)

“IEABEEEERA ARG ER
2 nVE - BREZEER ZIAAE
PBEEEEANRS MZHAETE AN
EEMBRERAR - EBWAERERNE
EPEHNFELEEREATE -

BHE-_T-_ZTF+A=+—HLEHF
[ K2EMEBEHERECATE K
SERDARELE 2R M ER R
132 492,926,000/ 7T (FHE R AR
2,660,0007T) ° & REREFOLIE - 1
BIEREPRERZ ARELEE 2 K1)
EMN AT SRS 255 M sk EE -

SHARE CAPITAL 27. BA
Number Equivalent to
of share HKS$ RMB’000
HER
BRHEE BT AREFT
Authorised: EE
At 31 December 2020 and R-E-ZF+-A=1+—HK
31 December 2021 “Z-—%+~-H=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 8,851
Issued and fully paid ordinary ZRO.01BLTZERTR
shares at HK$0.01 per share: HREEBER
At 31 December 2020 and RZZZTF+A=1+—AHkK
31 December 2021 “Z-—&+-PF=1+—H 400,000,000 4,000,000 3,509

R4 Y B Z1 R B PR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

28.

29.

COMMITMENTS
2021 2020
B —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFIT
Capital expenditure in respect of the HEEVE  BEKL
acquisition of property, plant and B ERTAVE &
equipment contracted for but not RGBSR ETE
provided in the consolidated financial B EHE
statements - 26

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from the current and prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, accumulated profits and other
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as
the issue of new debt.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

30. #@ T A

Categories of financial instruments SRITAER
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBTFT
Financial assets at amortised cost RESER AT E 2
S RIEE 47,935 52,272
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RESER AT EZ
SRBaE 5,107 6,684
Financial risk management objectives and BRRREEEERBE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables, bank balances
and cash, trade payables, other payables and
accrued charges, amount due to an associate and
lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
impairment assessment and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

RPN ET2RITABREE S EKK
IR~ HMEWERIR - |RITEBRNERS -
BHRNFIR - HtENRIANMESE
A ENBERBRFBEAREESE -
ZETR T AMFIBNARM ERE -
HzEem T ARENERERMSE
R (E¥ERLMEERR)  EERRN
BEHEARREBE SRR  BEZF
RBRzZBREN T - EEEEERE
ZzFRR - BERAMERERZ TR

BTSN -

A Y EEE 2 E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

211



212

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has certain trade receivables, other
receivables, bank balances and cash, and other
payables and accrued charges and lease liabilities
which are denominated in foreign currency which
exposed the Group to foreign exchange risk. The

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

30.

TRIAE)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

iS5 kR

g

AEBEETESREFIR - EMEIK
PR RITESREIA S AR AR
BN EAHE R REER BAINE
B AmeAEEmERELRR - NE
BRNHmEMRAIINETFECEEEER

carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency BE¥aBECEREENT
denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Assets Liabilities
gE =L
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--F ZT-TF ZE--F ZT-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFT ARETT AR¥EFT ARETT
HK$ BT 2,007 6,619 1,962 1,186
US$ e 5,417 5,556 - -

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed currency risk related to
HK$ and US$. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding monetary items which are denominated
in HK$ and US$ and adjusts its translation at the end
of the reporting date for a 5% and 5% change in
HK$ and US$ exchange rates, respectively. 5% (2020:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The analysis below illustrates the
impact for a 5% and 5% strengthening of the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against HK$ and US$ and a positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax loss, respectively. For
a 5% and 5% weakening of the functional currency
of the relevant group entities against the HK$ and
US$, respectively, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss and the number below
would be negative.

30. @ T A(#)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
E¥ER (&)

BRRE DT
AEEFZREBTMETHEBAERER
R o ERE D ITEBIEAB TTFZETS
BERRGEEERIER - WERSEHRD
B4 B 18 B 125% 8 7T M5 %3k T IE X
BOETHRERE - AFFEAS%(=ZF
ZFF 5% )NBRELERTEEE
BATHmEINER R - REEERINE
[ERA)SIE A RE B EH AR o AT
DR TEEEEEREEE BT
METDRIFAES%M5%ATE KT
NIEERTRBIE BB - WAERS
EERBIEE LB TANETS BERE
5%H15% @ BEAEXEFEERTFER
TX#ETBBE -

Increase in post-tax loss

RRBLE BB IE N
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR¥FT ARBTFT
HK$ BT 2 231
Us$ £ 230 236
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 19).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of prevailing market
interest rates on bank balances. The Group currently
does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arises.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

30. @ T A(#)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
T2

REBFEAERRT BRITAER (M
19) ZRERENRER o

AEENRERENZEREIEETR
RITHEBRNBITHISHRKE) - AEH
B A AR A R SRR - A - R
SEEEEBEEMNEE LRI HNTE R
ZREPEANREAR

SR IR RS B Y S BEEE Y RIS
WA BT -

2021 2020
—E--F CZZT-THF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Financial assets at amortised cost HEHEKAFTEZ
TREE 179 185
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. E@M I RA(#&)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the expected change in interest rate will not have
significant impact on the interest income from
variable-rate bank balances, hence sensitivity analysis
is not presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge the obligations by counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets, including trade
receivables, other receivables and bank balances as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in the PRC, which
accounted for 89% (2020: 100%) of the total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2021.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 11%
(2020: 10%) and 33% (2020: 35%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers, respectively.

BBEBREEREREEKE)

miEER(E)
Iz ()

BURE DT

ARRMESERG  BHNXEFHEI S

HRFRBRITEBRELEZNEWAEL
EXTE - HUtWEZ5IGURE ST

=E R NRER S

AU F I AREBITEIMALAEETR
MEBERZ AKRESRAEERR - J5K
BREHRE ARG P BARRRAINE
REEReMEEZRAE  BHRES
FEMGRIR ~ Bl R IR S R T4E

T+ A=+—0 ' &iE
o AEBHEERKREFEF
Bl 23 E 5 EWGRIERNSI% (= F
T=F4E 100%) °

i
& E

=

AEERKASBESGARFERAKRER
E‘Jf’i%ﬂ&ﬁhlﬁﬁ@%EZ@I%EW@%EPE
DREN%(ZFE=FF : 10%)%33%
(ZFE=FF :35%) °
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group is responsible for determination of
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group also requests deposits
from certain customers prior to goods delivery. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances based on
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

Other receivables

The credit risks on other receivables are significantly
reduced as the management of the Group
periodically monitors the balances to ensure that the
counterparties are viable to settle the debts.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group'’s credit risk on other receivables and
bank balances are significantly reduced.
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30.

TRIAE)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

KB EKEFHIE S W AR

REAREREEERR AEEERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 %

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

30. &R T AE#E)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

TR

2T —F+-A=+—HIFE

EERENBERE(E)

AEBRABMEERR D RFFEREN

Internal credit Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
assessment
B E &G it B 5 BUFEE HthSRMERE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk  Lifetime ECL — not credit- 12m ECL
of default and has on-going impaired
business relationship with
the Group with good credit
rating or does not have any
past-due amounts.
Ve RHBFHEARRELR FHEBEERE-BE 12EAARPEESR
AEEEREXBBER ERE
EERRES - SEEM
BEATRIE o
Normal risk Debtor frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
due dates but usually settle impaired
after due date.
ERER BERARERIBRRERN - 2HEADCEEE-&F 12EARHBEESHE
BRFRIMABRES - ERE
High risk There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not credit-  Lifetime ECL — not credit-
increases in credit risk since impaired impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally.
=ER FERRENSERENNE 2HEPEEEFE-&F 2HENEEBE-BE
BRI E R AR - ERE ERE
Credit impaired There is evidence indicating the  Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
asset is credit-impaired. impaired impaired
HRERRE BEURKAEELRGEERE - 2HEREERRE LR 2PRHEEHE R
FERE SERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating Amount is written off Amount is written off
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.
% AR RPEBABABREN  FUIAC K% AR WAz

PR - A AKEKD

FRENHEE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

30. @ T A(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

=& Rk MR BRI (&)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

TRABETHABEEBRRNGNAE
EEmMEENEERRFE

The table below details the credit risk exposures of
the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:
Financial assets at Internal credit 12m or
amortised cost assessment lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REBSERATEZ 128 A K2 H
THEE R &R S E 7 RHEEEE REAE
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-TF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Trade receivables Note (a) Lifetime ECL 10,072 10,170
(provision matrix)
B 5 WA Hiit(a) > HIFE B E B 1R
(B fmrBkE)
Credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — 3,325 2,694
credit-impaired
HIREERIE EHTEREEEE —
HIREERIE
13,397 12,864
Other receivables Note (b) 12m ECL 2,329 825
H b FENCRIE #1E(b) 12 AR B e B8
Total 15,726 13,689
EH
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on
these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by
internal credit assessment.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. At 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the Group has no past due other receivables.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit assessment for its
customers in relation to its operation. The following
table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables (not credit-impaired),
which are assessed based on provision matrix at the
end of the reporting period within lifetime ECL.

30. E@M I RA(#&)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

Hiat -

() BEZEEFIAEMS AEBECRAZE
BB EERIEIRAN (LT ERT
ExMAHEEEBRNEEERE - B
RIEEREZEBAS - REE(E R
wREREABEEHEDERZFER
BERAEEES -

(b) FABEERREREMS @ AEEEA
tﬁﬂﬁﬂuﬁﬂmgﬂ& B e FER LAZK
BAEEM R-E-_—FR T
EEJr_H_Jr B AKEMEE

F& YR IR E

ERAEEEERRERE 2 —82 &
SEREZERATPEAANMEER
i o TRAEBEZRIFENREH
RERBEEREZEERBRER - IR
Aﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ%@ﬂa(,n\fa/\iﬁﬁﬁ) AT
i ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

At 31 December 2021

SRMIA#E)
BEEREEERRBER(E)

=& Rk MR BRI (&)

R-B-—%+=-A=+—H

Gross
Average carrying  Impairment
loss rate amount losses
Internal credit assessment ABEEFE Rl S REAE REERE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFT ABMFT
Low risk B B 4.9 7,398 359
Normal risk ERRR 10.2 412 42
High risk =k 12.0 2,262 272
6.7 10,072 673

At 31 December 2020

R_EBE_EF+_A=+—H

Gross
Average carrying Impairment
loss rate amount losses
Internal credit assessment MEMEE T TIEEXR RE&E HEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETFT  AREFT
Low risk v 45 6,888 308
Normal risk EERER 9.9 1,044 103
High risk SYEN 114 2,238 256
6.6 10,170 667

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

30. @ T A(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

TREURLE 5 U IRE A fCR R
RZEHBEHEERRES) -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HIEH

e FEER

EREA (HBRER
(REEHE) HifE) H)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARFTT

At 1 January 2020 R-_T_ZTF—-H—H 431 2,143 2,574
Impairment recognised BERRRE 389 1,215 1,604
Impairment losses reversed EREREEE (153) (664) (817)
At 31 December 2020 and R_Z-TF
1 January 2021 TZRA=+—HkK

“E-—%—H—H 667 2,694 3,361
Impairment recognised B #RRE 52 1,093 1,145
Impairment losses reversed EREREERE (46) (462) (508)
At 31 December 2021 N-EBE-—F

+tZHA=1t— 673 3,325 3,998
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €@ T A(#&)

222

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are
mainly due to the provision of lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, including those not credit-impaired
and credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of
approximately RMB10,072,000 (2020: approximately
RMB10,170,000) and approximately RMB3,325,000
(2020: approximately RMB2,694,000), respectively.

BBEREERRREEK(E)

FERBNREREE)

B2 - —&+_-_A=+—HI&E
B BEZRWFIEEEREESHTER
R E S EWRIEF IR HBEHEE
EEEE BEREEREENAARE
10,072,0007T 2 BE EREE 5 BB
H(ZEFE-ZFF : HAKK10,170,000
o) REERELY A AR3,325000
THEEREESRBNB(ZFE-F
F  FIA K2 694,0007T) °

The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRETCMEAMEWFIARER 2 EE
allowances that has been recognised for other BHEER -
receivables.
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
>HABEE
EBE(HR
EERE)
RMB’'000
AEEF T
At 1 January 2020 R_ZF_FF—Hf—H 7
Impairment losses reversed R EREEE (7)
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and R-T_TF+-_H=+—H "

31 December 2021

“E-—F—HA—HK

—ZE-—F+-_HA=+—H -

No changes in the loss allowance for other
receivables during the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: approximately RMB7,000).

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=-Z—

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

TRITAE)

BEEREEERRBER(E)

REETEREE)

TRAJAEEITETRA BT
BHH - TRIIREBASERRZFER
BZer B ENARREAR

Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective or within undiscounted carrying
interest rate Tyear 1to2years 2to5years  cash flows amount
ik 337 REX ARRRE
ERAiE  g-Fn -ERE  WERE  REAR REELR
% RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ABRTE  AREFr  AREFL  ARETL  ARRETR
At 31 December 2021 R-g--F
+=A=t-H
Trade payables BAENE - m - - m m
Other payables and accrued RtbERFER
charges JEitER - 2,605 - - 2,605 2,605
Lease liabiltes HERR 483 1013 680 - 1,753 1,684
Amount due toan associate  [ERTEBEAFZE - 101 - - 101 101
4,496 680 - 5,176 5,107
Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective or within undiscounted crmying
interest rate Tyear  Tto2years  2to5years  cashflows amount
E¥S BREX AERAS
ERME  g-fR  -ZWE  WERF  REEE  REESR
% RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETT  ARETT  AEETT AREFT AEETL
At 31 December 2020 e
+=A=1-A
Trade payables BHEMZE - 1,447 - - 1,447 1,447
Other payables and EthENTER
accrued charges EiER - 2,595 - - 2,595 2,595
Lease liabilties HERE 483 1,484 692 604 2,780 2642
5,526 692 604 6,822 6,684

EREY)ESEIRIR AR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31.

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

The Group recognised right-of-use assets
by incurring lease liabilities of approximately
RMB425,000 (2020: approximately
RMB1,612,000) during the year ended 31
December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group adjusted right-of-use assets by
remeasuring lease liabilities of approximately
RMB849,000 upon entering into a new lease
with reduced lease consideration together
derecognising right-of-use assets by reducing
lease liabilities of approximately RMB375,000 in
relation to the early termination of original lease
term.

The Group transferred deposits paid of
approximately RMB1,079,000 in respect of
additions to property, plant and equipment
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MEREEREBBENKREERER
HERE -

() EEFREXS

HE_T-_—F+-_HA=+—HLt
FE - AEREERELEHEEBEOA
R#425,0000 (ZE2FF : HHA
R %1,612,00070) MAEREHAEE
gﬁo

HE-_ZT-_TF+-_A=+—H1t
FE - RV EAREERENHT
HER  ASBREHTEHES
B4 A R ¥849,000 7T i #82(F
BEE - FRFIZATKLEREEMm
HRAHE A ELH ARK®375,000
TR EERFEAREE -

BE_T-_—F+T-H=+—H
IEFE  AEBERAEVE WK
EREHEERENIZEHARE
1,079,0007T °



For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE =T =—F+_A=+—HIFE

31. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH 31. Be&REaxHtER (&)

FLOWS (Continued)
(b) MEEHEL2EBZYHIER

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

TRALAEEREEHELEZE

The table below details changes in the Group's

liabilities arising from financing activities. BEEE - BMEETHEEZBEE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are Hfﬁi?ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ?ﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬂ%%$
those for which cash flows were, or future SEGERENERPOEARME
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EERERECAE -
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
Amount
due to an Lease
associate liabilities
(S HE
ATFRIE HE&E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT  ARETT
At 1 January 2020 RZZE_TF—H—H - 1,612
Financing cash flows, net ~ @MERER=E © FE - (1,107)
Addition of new leases BREHE - 2,461
Lease modification MEEBET = (375)
Interest expenses MEFZ - 74
Exchange difference EH Z5 = (23)

At 31 December 2020 and MR-ZE-_TEF+_-_A=+—HK

1 January 2021 —T-—%—H—H - 2,642
Financing cash flows, net mﬁﬁfﬁ‘i\umg FE 101 (1,467)
Addition of new leases RS - 425
Interest expenses FERX - 93
Exchange difference ME 5, HE — 9)
At 31 December 2021 R=-EB=—F+=HA=+—H 101 1,684
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE T =-—F+=-A=+—HIFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 BEARS
(a) Related party transactions () BERXS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had entered
into following transactions with its related party
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020:

KRB WIS IR B At )5 2 B FR
@l\ BE_ T LT -FTF
TZA=+—BLEFE  AEEH
HEENRIMA TR S ¢

2021 2020
—E-—-F —ETF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARETT

Lease and utilities expenses paid BRI EEHED

to Shenzhen Junxuan Biological BrBR AT (R

Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen E& |) 2 & M A

Junxuan”) (Note) Fx (#it) (1,182) (953)
Sales to Smartronic A BLEl I SHE 2,004 767
Note: Hiat -

Shenzhen Junxuan is a related company controlled
by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, an executive director of the
Company.

*  English translation is for identification purpose
only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. BBEAR B ()

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

The emoluments of directors as key
management personnel of the Group during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were

(b)

FTEEEASHMH

EE(FRAKEXTZEEAR)E

E-T-HR-T

—E2-TF+-RA
=+—BULEFEZEHFMAT :

as follows:
2021 2020
—E——fF —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TFr AREFTT
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits #r& - TEAL R E A& F] 2,281 2,115
Contributions to defined contribution 5t R ET 21T
plans 172 93
Equity-settled share-based payment  SARRHEAE & 2 B {n £ A%
expenses B - 1,636
2,453 3,844
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. ZARTFEMB AR ZH1E
OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at the end of the RWERR - TEMBRRFEOT
reporting period are as follows:

Place of Proportion ownership
Name of incorporation/  Paid up issued/registered interest and voting power  Principal activities/ Type of
subsidiary establishment  capital held by the Company place of operation legal entity
AL/ BRRARKRA/ ARRMRAERRER
WEAFAR RS BAREMRAR RERRLA TEEN/SELY HREREE
Directly Indirectly
BE [}

Huakang Biomedical  The BVI Issued and fully paid share (2020: 100%) N/A  Investment holdings/ Limited liability
Company Limited capital US$1 Hong Kong company
(Note (b))

SRENESARAT ZBRAEE  CEARERRMER (CE-FF. TER RERR/EE ERAR
(Wedtb)) 100%)

Nutronic Biomedical ~ Hong Kong Issued and fully paid 100% N/A " Investment holdings/ Limited liability
Group Limited share capital HK$98 (2020: 100%) Hong Kong company

(2020:HK$80)

Nutronic Biomedical &% BEARARRASET 100% TER RERR/EE BRAT

Group Limited (ZE-FF - 80Fr) (ZE-FE:
100%)

King Grace The BVI Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A " Investment holdings/ Limited liability

capital US$10 (2020: 100%) Hong Kong company

King Grace ABRNEE  BEORARBRAI0ET ( 100% TEF RERR/BE BRAT

100%)
Shenzhen Huakang ~ The PRC Paid-up registered capital N/A 100% Research and development, Wholly foreign-
US$1,800,000 (2020: 100%)  manufacture, marketing  owned
and sale of hiological enterprise
reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies
and equipment/The PRC
RIER Tl SR iEMARA1,800,000%7T ER 100% % 4E ZHRHE NEBELX
(-5 EYSARENEER
100%)  BARE/ w8

Nutronic Healthcare  Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share /A 100% Sales of healthcare products - Limited liability
Company Limited capital HKS? (2020: 100%)  and supplements/ company
("Nutronic Hong Kong
Healthcare")

Nutronic Healthcare ~ &7& EETRARRA AT AR 100% HEREERRARR/ ARAT
Company Limited (ZE-F%:  ER
([Nutronic 100%)

Healthcare))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. KA AR FEMB AT ZFHEB(£)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: HiaE

(@) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities (@ RIEER - BLEME A R TEME
at the end of reporting period. BESH o

(b) The subsidiary has been deregistered during the year (b) ZMBARBEREEZE—_Z=_—F+=A
ended 31 December 2021. =t+—HIEFEFHEER °

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 34. HEHRSEE

On 31 January 2022, the Company entered into RZE__F—A=+—0 xR nH

a term loan agreement with a private limited RN EWERARER 2 — SR B 5 5 A 1 I EY

liability company which is controlled by one of the FLEBRATGI L EHERGZE - £

Controlling Shareholders of the Company, Mr. /51,000,000 7T - ARARF]—MKE

Chang Yim Yang in the amount of HK$1,000,000 BEE®  THERAEER £B8KE

as the general working capital of the Company. The RZE_=F—A=+—HEE&-

term loan is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on 31 January 2023.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T =—F+=-A=+—HI-FE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. & AR R E
THE COMPANY

2021 2020
—B--F —ECTF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Wit AREFT AEETT

Non-current assets *REBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NI e 9,099 9,318
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 25 98
Right-of-use assets EREEE 466 1,000
9,590 10,416
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and HAEBGRIE « Re &
prepayments FERTRIE 404 1,122
Amounts due from subsidiaries iR ENGIE ] 35(a) 7,269 5,544
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRRIAE 45 5,113
7,718 11,779
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables and accrued Hoh AT RRIE K FE 5T
charges EH 1,496 1,186
Lease liabilities HEaE 209 526
Amount due to a subsidiary e — M B A B IE 35(a) 1,700 1,743
3,405 3,455
Net current assets REEEFE 4,313 8,324
Total assets less current EERERRBER
liabilities 13,903 18,740
Non-current liabilities *REBERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 160 268
NET ASSETS EEFE 13,743 18,472
Capital and reserves BEXRF#E
Share capital (EEN 3,509 3,509
Reserves & 35(b) 10,234 14,963
TOTAL EQUITY ERARE 13,743 18,472
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=—T=—F+=-A=+—HItFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. XA R RER(Z)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries (a) FEW(T)HIEABIFRIE
The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries were R () B AR IEE &I -
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on T ERIRERER -
demand.
(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves (b) DT ZHEES
Share
Share option Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RRE  BRERE E-50 ] w5t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ABRTT  AREFT  ABRTT  AREFIL

At 1 January 2020 il
—H—H 47,248 - (25,657) 21,591
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FREER
expense for the year FHEYEE - = (9,288) (9,288)
Transactions with owners: EEFAZRS :
Contributions and distributions (4% & 7/
Equity-settled share-based MARRIEREE 2 B (n
payment expenses (Note 26)  ERNFEI®
(Hit26) - 2,660 - 2,660
Forfeiture of share options SRR AR AE (f77t26)
(Note 26) - (52) 52 -
Total transactions with BREAZRZHAE
owners - 2,608 52 2,660
At31December 2020and ~ RZTZTF
1 January 2021 +=A=1+—-H
R=—FB_—F
—H—H 47,248 2,608 (34,893) 14,963
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FABEREZERX
expense for the year Gk - = (4,729) (4,729)
Transactions with owners: EEBAZRXS :
Contributions and distributions  #£5 R 7
Forfeiture of share options R UREE ARt
(Note 26) (Hizt26) - (204) 204 -
At 31 December 2021 R-B--F
+=ZRA=t+-H 47,248 2,404 (39,418) 10,234
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

AEENEEREAVRERE RS BENR
BEMEBEIINT - AE2E T EREE Y
Bk < —8m -

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out below.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated

232

financial statements.

RESULTS 4
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
“EC-f —Z2-TF —“T-N\E T\ —T+F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEBFT ANRETFT AEEFT AREFT AREFT
Revenue WA 26,127 21,967 25,471 28,677 26,541
(Loss) Profit before taxation ~ BHiAT(E1R) %A (3,903) (11,372) 658 1,242 (247)
Taxation IR (317) (255) (942) (1,701) (1,705)
(Loss) Profit for the year ARAEBA
attributable to the EIEEE (E8)
owners of the Company & Al (4,220) (11,627) (284) (459) (1,952)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥E  r 8ERFERER
INTERESTS
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE 13,396 13,691 15,244 13,667 12,507
Current assets MENEE 53,664 59,010 63,468 69,767 35,915
Total assets BERE 67,060 72,701 78,712 83,434 48,422
Equity and liabilities BEREE
Total equity i 57,705 61,859 70,685 71,021 37,390
Non-current liabilities EEN=EE 718 1,576 816 430 220
Current liabilities mEEE 8,637 9,266 7,211 11,983 10,812
Total liabilities £ B mE 9,355 10,842 8,027 12,413 11,032
Total equity and liabilities ERkARESR 67,060 72,701 78,712 83,434 48,422
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